
           

* * * * PUBLIC NOTICE * * * *

NOTICE OF A CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING
A WORKSHOP SESSION

OF THE CITY OF CORINTH
Thursday, October 17, 2019, 5:45 P.M.

CITY HALL - 3300 CORINTH PARKWAY
  

           

CALL TO ORDER:
 

WORKSHOP BUSINESS AGENDA
 

1. Receive a presentation and update on the Climate Ready Communities project.
 

2. Discuss Regular Meeting Items on Regular Session Agenda, including the consideration of closed
session items as set forth in the Closed Session agenda items below.

  

 

3. Receive a presentation and discuss the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) and the Transit Oriented
Development (TOD) District.

 

4. Review water meter reading software.
 

ADJOURN WORKSHOP SESSION
 

*NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN of a Regular Session of the Corinth City Council to be held at Corinth City Hall
located at 3300 Corinth Parkway, Corinth, Texas. The agenda is as follows:
 

CALL TO ORDER, INVOCATION, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE & TEXAS PLEDGE:
"Honor the Texas Flag: I pledge allegiance to thee, Texas, one state under God, one and indivisible".
 

CONSENT AGENDA
All matters listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted in one motion.
Should the Mayor, a Councilmember, or any citizen desire discussion of any Item that Item will be removed
from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately.
 

1. Consider and act on minutes from the August 22, 2019 Workshop Session.
 

2. Consider and act on minutes from the August 22, 2019 Regular Session.
 

                                   Page 1



CITIZENS  COMMENTS
In accordance with the Open Meetings Act, Council is prohibited from acting on or discussing (other than
factual responses to specific questions) any items brought before them at this time. Citizen's comments will be
limited to 3 minutes. Comments about any of the Council agenda items are appreciated by the Council and may
be taken into consideration at this time or during that agenda item. Please complete a Public Input form if you
desire to address the City Council. All remarks and questions addressed to the Council shall be addressed to the
Council as a whole and not to any individual member thereof. Section 30.041B Code of Ordinance of the City
of Corinth.
 

PUBLIC HEARING
 

3. The Corinth City Council will hold a public hearing, consider testimony, and act upon a request for
a zoning change from C-2, Commercial to Planned Development (PD) with a base zoning district of
C-2, Commercial in order to operate a motorcycle dealership with light repairs on a 1.13 acre tract
of land legally described as Kensington Park Addition, Block A, Lot 3 in the City of Corinth,
Denton County, Texas, and is more commonly known as 7700 South I-35E. This property is located
north of FM 2181, south of Riverview Drive, east of S. Garrison Rd. and west of IH35. (Twisted
Cycles Planned Development)

  
1. Staff Presentation
2. Applicant Presentation
3. Public Hearing
4. Staff Response
5. Take Action

 

BUSINESS AGENDA
 

4. Consider authorizing the City Manager to complete the second phase (Phase II) of a Transit Stop Study
being conducted with the Denton County Transportation Authority (DCTA) for a transit stop concept plan
and a cost estimate for the City of Corinth.

 

COUNCIL COMMENTS & FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS
The purpose of this section is to allow each councilmember the opportunity to provide general updates and/or
comments to fellow councilmembers, the public, and/or staff on any issues or future events. Also, in accordance
with Section 30.085 of the Code of Ordinances, at this time, any Councilmember may direct that an item be
added as a business item to any future agenda.
 

CLOSED SESSION
The City Council will convene in such executive or (closed session) to consider any matters regarding any of the
above agenda items as well as the following matters pursuant to Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code.

Section 551.071.  (1) Private consultation with its attorney to seek advice about pending or contemplated
litigation; and/or settlement offer; and/or (2) a matter in which the duty of the attorney to the government body
under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of the State of Texas clearly conflicts with chapter
551.

a. MCM Contract for Lake Sharon Roadway Extension.
 
Section 551.072. To deliberate the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property if deliberation in an open
meeting would have a detrimental effect on the position of the governmental body in negotiations with a third

                                   Page 2



meeting would have a detrimental effect on the position of the governmental body in negotiations with a third
person.
 
Section 551.074. To deliberate the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline, or
dismissal of a public officer or employee; or to hear a complaint or charge against an officer or employee.
 
Section 551.087. To deliberate or discuss regarding commercial or financial information that the governmental
body has received from a business prospect that the governmental body seeks to have locate, stay, or expand in or
near the territory of the governmental body and with which the governmental body is conducting economic
development negotiations; or to deliberate the offer of a financial or other incentive to a business prospect.
 

After discussion of any matters in closed session, any final action or vote taken will be in public by the City
Council. City Council shall have the right at any time to seek legal advice in Closed Session from its Attorney on
any agenda item, whether posted for Closed Session or not.
 
RECONVENE  IN  OPEN  SESSION  TO  TAKE  ACTION, IF NECESSARY,  ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS.
 

ADJOURN:
 

Posted this 11th day of October, 2019 at 11:30 a.m. on the bulletin board at Corinth City Hall.

________________________________
Kimberly Pence, City Secretary
City of Corinth, Texas

                                   Page 3

lwylie
Typewritten Text
Lana Wylie for Kim Pence



   
    WORKSHOP BUSINESS ITEM    1.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 10/17/2019  
Title: Climate Ready Communities 
Submitted For: Helen-Eve Liebman, Director 
Submitted By: Patrick Hubbard, Development Coordinator
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Land Development

Infrastructure Development
Economic Development
Citizen Engagement & Proactive
Government
Regional Cooperation

AGENDA ITEM
Receive a presentation and update on the Climate Ready Communities project.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
Receive a presentation and update from staff concerning the progress of the Climate Ready Communities project
including an overview of the Climate Hazard Assessment and a preliminary report on workshop findings. 

RECOMMENDATION
NA

Attachments
Climate Hazard Assessment 

                                   Page 4



1 | P a g e

CLIMATE READY CORINTH
CLIMATE HAZARD ASSESSMENT

                                   Page 5



2 | P a g e

Climate Hazard Assessment
Introduction

In 2011, Texas experienced its driest year since the beginning of modern recordkeeping, which 
began in 1895. The drought caused $7.6 billion in losses to Texas agricultural producers in a single 
year. In addition, this drought killed an estimated 5.6 million trees in urban areas and 301 million 
rural trees and took the lives of 6 people in forest fires exacerbated by this extreme drought. 
According to the Texas Legislative Budget Board, State agencies incurred $253 million in costs 
and $132 million in losses due to the drought in fiscal years 2011 and 2012, respectively. (Texas 
Comptroller, Texas Water Report, Pages 10-12)

The most destructive hurricane in Texas history, Hurricane Harvey, struck the coast in 2017 
directly affecting 41 Texas counties with total property damages estimated at $125 billion, second 
only to Hurricane Katrina as the most destructive hurricane in American history. More than 
750,000 people evacuated their homes and 30% of the State’s population was directly impacted. 
80,000 homes had 18 inches or more of water inside of them and 23,000 homes had more than 5 
feet of water inside of them during the storm. 106 Americans lost their lives to the storm (Natsios, 
A, Page 5).

The impacts of climate on the wellbeing of communities are evident in these examples. Even day-
to-day climate conditions have a wide range effects on the lives of residents, visitors and businesses 
in Corinth. Recognizing the importance of climate trends on the welfare of our community, the 
City of Corinth seeks to understand and accurately predict climatic trends in order to provide 
appropriate, cost-effective and equitable solutions to potential hazards. The first step in developing 
these solutions is thoroughly researching and assessing the city’s exposure to a myriad of climate 
related risks. Part of this research pertains to assessing how climate conditions in Corinth may 
change over time. There are numerous factors that affect the climate but there is consensus that 
some amount of change has already occurred and that this change will continue. 

This hazard assessment serves as a basis for future planning and as an educational tool for 
community members and decision makers. The following sections provide an overview of climate 
trends in Corinth, a baseline hazard analysis utilizing data on current climate conditions, and a 
multidimensional hazard assessment based on possible future conditions. 

                                   Page 6



3 | P a g e

Climate and Environmental Background

Corinth is located in Denton County, Texas just south of Denton and just north of Lake Lewisville, 
in the northern portion of the Dallas/Ft. Worth Metroplex. The Metroplex has a humid subtropical 
climate and it is located approximately 250 miles north of the Gulf of Mexico and near the 
headwaters of the Trinity River. Corinth has an elevation of 607 ft. Being continental, Corinth 
experiences a wide temperature and precipitation range, with precipitation ranging from 20 inches 
to more than 50 inches per year. Rainfall in Corinth typically occurs at night with rainy weather 
typically lasting for 1 to 2 days. Much of the region’s precipitation comes in the form of 
thunderstorms that provide heavy precipitation over a short period. The highest frequency of 
storms occurs in spring. Dallas Fort Worth enjoys a freeze-free period of about 249 days with the 
average first and last freezes occurring in late November and mid-March, respectively. Daytime 
summer temperatures frequently exceed 100 °F while northers (fast moving cold fronts marked by 
a rapid drop in temperature, strong winds, and dark blue or "black" skies) typically occur about 
three times per month, sometimes triggering extreme temperature drops and winter precipitation 
events during winter months. The cold front originates from the north, hence the name "norther," 
and can send temperatures plummeting by 20 or 30 degrees within a few minutes (US Department 
of Commerce, & NOAA).

Approximately 2.65% of the population of the City of Corinth is presently located in the 1% chance 
floodplain with an expected loss of $20k of value of improved property being incurred annually 
due to flooding with .000001781% of the total assessed value of improvements at risk during a 1% 
chance event (Denton County, Pages D-1 – D-46). Wide year-to-year variability in precipitation 
contributes to the uncertainty associated with flooding.  

Extreme heat and drought are also difficult to predict due to the wide year-to-year variation in 
temperature and precipitation rates that the City experiences, however, mean annual temperatures 
statewide have increased approximately 1°F since the first half of the 20th century (NOAA 
National Centers for Environmental Information). 

In addition to these broader climate condition, Corinth is significantly affected by water supply 
issues. Corinth is located in the Trinity Aquifer, a component of the Edwards-Trinity aquifer 
system. Most of this aquifer is used by cities, but some of it is used for agricultural purposes. 
According to the Texas Water Development Board, “some of the state’s largest water level 
declines, ranging from 350 to more than 1,000 feet, have occurred in counties along the IH-35 
corridor from McLennan County to Grayson County, but they have slowed over the past decade 
as a result of increasing reliance on surface water” (Whitehead, R.L, Pages 21-27) (George, P., 
Pages 67-72). 

The City of Corinth purchases drinking water from the Upper Trinity Regional Water District. 
Upper Trinity identifies surface water, principally from lakes, as the most reliable source of water 
for the region and reports that the present supply is adequate to meet the needs of the region for 25 
years. Local water is provided from nearby Lewisville Lake and Ray Roberts Lake while additional 
water is supplied from Chapman (Cooper) Lake in Northeast Texas. Upper Trinity has shown 
tremendous commitment to promoting and implementing strategies for water conservation and 

                                   Page 7



4 | P a g e

reuse but has stated that an expansion in available water supply is “absolutely critical” and Upper 
Trinity is working to provide access to a proposed new water supply, Lake Ralph Hall, along the 
North Sulphur River in Fannin County, just northeast of the DFW Metroplex (Upper Trinity 
Regional Water District). 

(Source: Whitehead, R.L, Page 21; Right: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, 
Page 3)

                                   Page 8



5 | P a g e

Baseline Hazard Analysis

The Corinth Addendum to the Denton County Hazard Mitigation Plan (HazMap) provides an 
overview of present hazards impacting the City. The Priority Risk Index (PRI) included in the 
Hazard Mitigation Plan serves as a valuable baseline risk assessment useful for quantifying and 
contextualizing the City’s current risks. This helps to provide some context for how potential future 
climate conditions may exacerbate existing hazards (Denton County, Pages D-1 – D-46).

The Priority Risk Index (PRI) used in the Denton County HazMap categorizes potential hazards 
for The City of Corinth to aid in determining which hazards pose the most significant threat to the 
community based on a variety of factors. Although the PRI is not scientifically based, it is designed 
to be utilized as an objective and systematic planning tool for classifying and prioritizing hazard 
risks in Denton County based on standardized criteria. The PRI provides numerical values that 
allow identified hazards to be ranked against one another.  It ranks each hazard as high, moderate, 
low, or negligible to no risk.  The higher the PRI value, the greater the hazard’s risk.  These values 
were obtained by assigning varying degrees of risk to four categories for each hazard: Probability, 
Life Impact, Property Impact, and Spatial Extent.  Each category has been assigned an Index Value 
(0 to 3) and a Weighting Factor (0 – 100%).  These values may be adjusted during future plan 
updates. 

In order to evaluate the risk of each hazard, the assigned PRI Value for each category is multiplied 
by the weighting factor. Then, the PRI for each hazard is calculated by adding the product obtained 
in each category. According to the weighting scheme applied for Denton County, the highest 
possible PRI value is 3.0. The sum of all four categories equals the final PRI value, as shown 
below: 

PRI Value = (Probability x .30) + (Life Impact x .35) + (Property 
Impact x .25) + (Spatial Extent x .10)

                                   Page 9



6 | P a g e

The following table from the Denton County Hazard Mitigation Plan states Corinth’s 2014 hazard 
risk rankings: 

        (Source: Denton County, Pages D-1 – D-46) 

This is the best available localized source of baseline information included in current City of 
Corinth plans regarding climate hazards and helps to contextualize and provide a framework for 
the subsequent report sections on potential future hazards. The following sections will address 
each of these hazards excluding earthquakes, expansive soil and dam failure because these hazard 
types are out of scope or present negligible to no risk (Denton County, Pages D-1 – D-46).

                                   Page 10



7 | P a g e

Potential Future Hazard Conditions

The City’s existing assessment of our baseline hazard conditions provides a clear understanding 
of the minimum level of threat that we can expect to persist into the future, but Federal Government 
data compiled from multiple departments and agencies show how the level of threat presented by 
each of these hazards may change. Each of these threats is discussed in the following sections. 

Extreme Heat

The Denton County HazMap identifies extreme heat along with tornado as the highest risk 
environmental hazard affecting the City. This is a significant concern locally as well as nationally. 
According to Karl et al., “model studies indicate that intense heat waves that now occur once every 
20 years are projected to occur about every other year in much of the country by the end of this 
century.” According to the U.S. Climate Resilience Toolkit, average temperatures in Denton 
County may increase from 78 degrees to between 80 and 81.5 degrees by 2050, based on low and 
high change scenarios, respectively. Though an increase in average temperatures of 2 to 3.5 
degrees may appear small in a day to day sense, the impacts of this increase over the course of a 
year or sustained over several years may be quite substantial. This change could have a 
transformative effect on environmental conditions within the city and a disastrous impact on the 
health of vulnerable residents. In addition, Corinth’s continental climate subjects the City to a 
broad range of temperature variation both within seasons and year-to-year. Consequently, 
individual years may vary significantly, but the general trend is more stable over time. 

For Denton County, days with high temperatures over 90 degrees may increase from about 100 
days per year to between 125 and 135 days per year by 2050 while days with high temperatures 
exceeding 105 degrees may increase from about 5 per year to between 10 and 15 per year over the 
same time period, based on case scenarios analyzed by the NOAA Climate Program Office. 
Similarly, days with lows below freezing may decrease from about 40 days per year to between 
28 and 36 days per year (NOAA Climate Program Office). These data are summarized in the 
following chart:

Scenario Comparison (for year 2050)

 Current Low 
Scenario

High 
Scenario

Average 
Temperature 

(°F)
78 80 (+2) 81.5 (+3.5)

Days with 
Highs Above 

90°F
100 125 

(125%)
135 

(135%)

Days with 
Highs Above 

100°F
5 10 (200%) 15 (300%)

Days with 
Lows below 

32°F
40 28 (70%) 36 (90%)

                                   Page 11



8 | P a g e

Extreme heat is responsible for more deaths than any other type of natural disaster. The burdens 
created by extreme heat most heavily impact low-income people, people who work outside, the 
elderly, and people with disabilities and/or chronic illnesses due to their sensitivity to the heat and 
the lessened amount of access or time spent in climate controlled spaces (Environmental Protection 
Agency, Page 1-4).

This extreme heat is compounded by the Urban Heat Island Effect. This phenomena results in a 
temperature increase of 2-22°F in urban areas compared to the rural areas around them and is 
responsible for 5-10% of summertime electricity demand. Urban heat islands form when cities 
replace natural land cover such as trees, grass and wetlands, with pavement and buildings. 
Vegetation has a natural cooling effect through shade and the evaporation of water while building 
and paving materials absorb more heat than natural cover and release that heat at night, impacting 
nighttime highs. This is further intensified by tall buildings blocking wind flow and by waste heat 
released by vehicles, factories and air conditioning units. This waste heat is the product of 
inefficient electrical technologies and suboptimal weatherization. This adversely affects people’s 
health, air and water quality, and energy use. The cumulative impact of urban heat islands can 
substantially change the living conditions of humans, plants, and animals in an urban area 
(Environmental Protection Agency, Page 1-4).

Some of the uncertainty associated with climate change projections comes from variation among 
different global climate models (GCMs). Most uncertainty, however, stems from the fact that we 
don’t know how much greenhouse gas emissions will continue to be released. Two emissions 
pathways were considered – RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5. RCP 4.5 assumes that emissions are 
aggressively reduced, while RCP 8.5 assumes that emissions continue to increase unabated. 

                                   Page 12



9 | P a g e

Drought

Drought was identified by the Denton County HazMap as the second highest risk category for 
Corinth. The issues of extreme heat and drought are closely related because rising temperatures 
greatly exacerbate drought and aridity of the overall climate of the North Texas area. Drought “can 
be broadly defined as a temporary, recurring reduction in the precipitation in an area” while 
“aridity is a measure of long-term average climatic conditions” (Maliva, Pages 21-37). 
Specifically, aridity is the opposite of humidity and can be regarded as low levels of moisture in a 
climate region. This has a wide range of landscape manifestations and downstream impacts on 
flora and fauna. “Arid regions are” … “more prone to droughts and may experience more severe 
impacts from droughts” (Maliva, Pages 21-37).

Reviewing historic data, Texas Almanac reports that North Central Texas experienced drought, 
(defined by less than 75% of average annual rainfall), in 4 years from 2000-2014 including the 
historic 2011 drought. For comparison, the region experienced drought in 4 years from the period 
of 1950-1999 (Texas State Historical Association). Denton County HazMap, using a less strict 
definition of drought, reports that Denton County and participating jurisdictions have experienced 
45 drought events, ranging from Abnormally Dry/Mild Drought to Exceptional Drought, from 
January 1996 to March 2014 (Denton County, Pages D-1 – D-46).

The 4th National Climate Assessment predicts an increase in aridity throughout the Southern Great 
Plains Region. Higher temperatures are associated with greater evaporation, which is expected to 
lead to increases in drought stress and aridity throughout the region, even if precipitation increases 
moderately. The frequency and intensity of heavy storms may increase, but the occurrence of 
soaking rains will decline as the overall rate of precipitation increases only slightly. This leaves a 
longer “drying out” period between rain events. Therefore, the Southern Great Plains region as a 
whole is trending more towards desert-like conditions and away from higher humidity conditions, 
though these impacts are not uniformly felt (Maliva, Pages 21-37)( US Global Change Research 
Program). As stated previously, Corinth may experience between 25 and 35 more days with high 
temperatures above 100 degrees by 2050 and this is expected to continue to increase to between 
20 and 70 days by the end of the 21st Century (NOAA Climate Program Office). 

                                   Page 13



10 | P a g e

(Source: US Global Change Research Program)

As shown in the image above, the groundwater depletion rate in major aquifers through the region, 
and the country overall, was at a higher level of depletion from 2001-2008 as opposed to from 
1900-2000. This will vary year-to-year, but the trend towards higher levels of depletion is expected 
to continue or accelerate.

In addition to exposure created by changes in climate, the State of Texas has stated that Texas’ 
rapid rate of urban population growth will lead to a sharp increase in water consumption. In 
addition, the American Geophysical Union has classified both Denton-Lewisville and Dallas-Fort 
Worth-Arlington as areas with medium vulnerability for limited water (Texas Comptroller of 
Public Accounts, The Impact of the 2011 Drought and Beyond, Pages 1-12)(Texas Comptroller of 
Public Accounts, Texas Water Report, Pages 1-23). Therefore, the data indicate a falling water 
supply being met with an increasing demand. The impacts of this trend have the potential to be 
rather dramatic in drier years and the impacts of related shortages are broadly felt. The 4th National 
Climate Assessment frames concern about changing rates of precipitation with the Food, Energy 
and Water Nexus. According to the assessment:

“Food, energy, and water systems are inseparable. Any change in demand for one 
will impact demand on the other two.” … “As the population in the region grows, 
rapid urbanization and economic development opportunities will drive an increase 
in the demand for food, energy, and water. Water is used in every aspect of 
agricultural production and electricity generation. Energy is required to extract and 
deliver water of sufficient quality for diverse human and agricultural use, as well 
as healthy consumption and wastewater treatment. Both water and energy are 
required to irrigate and process agricultural products and livestock to feed the 
region’s increasing population. The complex interdependencies at the food–

                                   Page 14



11 | P a g e

energy–water nexus create enormous challenges.” (US Global Change Research 
Program).  

As a result of this relationship, the presence of drought conditions, increased population, 
and the gradual change in precipitation averages trending towards greater aridity places 
strain not just on domestic water use, but also on energy markets and agricultural 
production. Not only do these sectors all suffer from a decrease in this supply, the demand 
for a shrinking water supply drives competition between these sectors for the use of limited 
water resources. The nationwide total damage from drought in 2012 was $33 billion (in 
2018 dollars). This is largely a result of harvest failures of major crops such as corn, 
sorghum and soybeans (US Global Change Research Program). 

Wildfire

Drought conditions also increase the risk of wildfire. Wildfire is generally considered a low risk 
hazard for Corinth, however, there are some heavily wooded areas of the City which are visible on 
Urban Wildland Interface maps and the Denton County HazMap states that approximately 55% of 
the City is vulnerable to wildfires to some degree. This is in part because Denton County contains 
considerable agricultural and wildland (Denton County, Pages D-1 – D-46).

                                   Page 15



12 | P a g e

(Source: Denton County, Pages D-1 – D-46) 

                                   Page 16



13 | P a g e

   (Source: Texas A&M Forest Service)

                                   Page 17



14 | P a g e

Air Quality

Though not explicitly addressed in the Denton County Hazard Mitigation Plan, air quality is 
significantly impacted by temperature variation. In particular, ozone concentration is strongly 
dependent on temperature and will increase as temperature increases, increasing substantially 
during heat waves. According to the North Central Texas Council of Governments “Clinical 
studies indicate prolonged exposure to elevated concentrations of ground level ozone may reduce 
lung function, increase the frequency of asthma episodes, and reduce the body’s ability to resist 
respiratory infections. In addition to threatening human health, high ground-level ozone 
concentrations pose a risk to the environment, wildlife, and agriculture” (North Central Texas 
Council of Governments, Page 3). 

Denton County is presently in nonattainment status with the Environmental Protection Agency for 
ozone. As a consequence, the County is subject to increased emission-control requirements. Ozone 
pollution is a result of the reaction of other pollutants, called precursor pollutants. Specifically, it 
results from the emission of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) and Nitrogen Oxides (NOX). 
VOC makes up a much larger portion of the precursor pollutants in North Central Texas and the 
region is considered “NOX limited.” Therefore, the region is susceptible to small variations in NOX. 
In addition, a significantly higher percentage of NOX is man-made while a majority, though not 
all, of VOC emissions are naturally occurring from plant sources. As a result, primary efforts to 
reduce ozone in the region focus on NOx, the majority of which come from transportation sources.

In addition to heat, drought can significantly affect air quality. Precipitation can remove soluble 
trace gases and aerosols, which cleans the air. Additionally, drought can alter plants’ normal 
interactions with air pollution and lead to changes in VOC concentrations. This results in worse 
air quality as levels of drought increase (Peterson, Pages 184-197) (North Central Texas Council 
of Governments, Pages 1-26). 

                                   Page 18



15 | P a g e

Flooding

Corinth has considerable floodplain area and the area designated by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA) has increased with the preliminary floodplain maps issued in 2019. 
This is largely due to improvements in the quality of data, however, rather than an increase in 
actual floodplain area. Stormwater in Corinth drains principally into Lake Lewisville through 
several creeks such as Lynchburg Creek and Hickory Creek. Some of the creek areas in the City 
have been designated as Greenbelts in accordance with the Denton County Greenbelt Plan while 
other low lying areas have been designated as drainage areas. Present and historic greenbelt areas 
of the city closely overlap with designated floodplain areas. Still, much of the area that was 
historically occupied by forested creeks and streams has been urbanized. Some stream segments 
in the city have been filled, to varying degrees, through erosion and construction projects occurring 
in the city since its founding. Nevertheless, new developments over 1 acre in size are required to 
limit discharge of stormwater to the same rate as existing conditions and floodplain development 
is strongly discouraged. In addition, the city has adopted or is working to adopt drainage and water 
quality standards that will improve overall storm water and watershed conditions citywide, by 
means of becoming an Integrated Stormwater Management (iSWM) silver recognized community 
through the North Central Texas Council of Governments.

Though there is uncertainty with respect to future average precipitation, both high and low 
emissions models for precipitation averages in Denton County suggest little change in annual 
precipitation as a whole or in the number of days featuring greater than 1 inch of precipitation. 
Additionally, the 4th National Climate Assessment states that, in the Southern Great Plains 
Regions, “Average annual precipitation projections suggest small changes in the region, with 
slightly wetter winters, particularly in the north of the region, and drier summers.” Despite this, 
the assessment also states that “the frequency and intensity of heavy precipitation are anticipated 
to continue to increase” and this increase “implies fewer soaking rains and more time to dry out 
between events.” Therefore, while the amount of rainfall is not expected to see a major change in 
terms of overall quantity, the nature of storm events is expected to trend towards higher intensity 
events throughout the Southern Great Plains region. This suggests a greater frequency of major 
storm events as a proportion of rain events but not an actual increase in total precipitation at the 
regional level while County level data suggest little change in the total number of storm events. 
NOAA’s Atlas 14 indicates that current rainfall rates have remained consistent with historic 
rainfall rates as reflected in historic rainfall data and the extent to which changes in precipitation 
will occur is unclear. This change should be understood as a shift in the average and, as noted in 
the climate summary, Corinth is subject to considerable year to year variation in weather due to 
numerous factors (NOAA Climate Program Office)(Perica, 1-32) (US Global Change Research 
Program).

These findings are consistent with the risk level identified in the Denton County Hazard Mitigation 
Plan. Therefore, while the impacts of flooding are potentially devastating to individual property 
owners and flood hazards may adversely affect specific properties, there is little evidence to 
support the claim that local flood risks will increase on a systemic level sufficient to necessitate 
major policy changes. This assumes that all elements of our present drainage infrastructure, 

                                   Page 19



16 | P a g e

including naturally present geological and ecological features, are maintained in good condition 
and that development standards remain consistent with industry best practices. This does not 
conclusively determine that no increase will be felt. But, present and proposed infrastructure 
standards appear to accommodate high change scenarios based on current data. 

                                   Page 20



17 | P a g e

Extreme Weather Events (Tornado, Winter Storms, Hail, Lightning, High Winds)

The remaining hazards in the Denton County Hazard Mitigation Plan are addressed herein 
collectively as Extreme Weather events. Attempts to project future vulnerabilities to these hazards 
have been inconclusive. They are impacted by a variety of factors and are difficult to quantify or 
predict. According to the 4th National Climate Assessment: 

“The role of climate change in altering the frequency of the types of severe weather most 
typically associated with the Southern Great Plains, such as severe local storms, hailstorms, 
and tornadoes, remains difficult to quantify” … “Indirect approaches suggest a possible 
increase in the circumstances conducive to such severe weather, including an increase in 
the instances of larger hail sizes in the region by 2040, but changes are unlikely to be 
uniform across the region, and additional research is needed.” (US Global Change 
Research Program)

Based on this prognosis, it is sensible to reserve judgement on what impacts to expect until more 
conclusive data are available, however, the 4th National Climate Assessment does predict an 
increase in the overall intensity of precipitation events, as noted elsewhere, so it is reasonable to 
expect some change to occur insofar as these types of events are related to each other. For example, 
a heavy storm is likely to have high winds and lightning. Overall, the data are inclusive regarding 
these factors and capacity for more intensive analysis is limited (US Global Change Research 
Program). That being said, the highly destructive potential of these hazards ensures that they will 
remain a subject of concern at all levels through resiliency and hazard mitigation planning 
regardless of long term changes in their probability of occurrence. 

                                   Page 21



18 | P a g e

Conclusion

The City of Corinth acknowledges that the future presents uncertainty and has made resilience and 
sustainability an integral part of our ongoing planning and development efforts. As part of this 
process, Corinth has sought to develop a clear understanding of our true climate risks in order to 
develop localized solutions rooted in the best available science. The City wishes to be sensitive to 
the potential seriousness of climate hazards but also prudent in its analysis, seeking to be neither 
reactionary nor negligent. The preceding sections present the findings of this endeavor based on 
the best available scientific data and expert insights.

Broadly speaking, where data show clear trends, the conclusions of this hazard assessment are 
generally consistent with the previous assessment of risk contained within the Denton County 
Hazard Mitigation Plan. Research has shown the greatest hazard to the Corinth community stems 
from extreme heat and drought conditions while other risks are less certain. The data suggest that 
precipitation throughout the region will become more intense but less frequent. It is uncertain how 
this will affect the incidence of extreme weather events such as winter storms and tornados. 

This report provides a sound basis for the creation of the Climate Resilience plan which will 
provide specific strategies based on industry best practices, innovative ideas and community input 
to provide locally tailored, efficient solutions to climate challenges.

                                   Page 22



19 | P a g e

References

Denton County (2015). Hazard Mitigation Action Plan.

Environmental Protection Agency (2014). Keeping your cool: How Communities Can Reduce the 
Heat Island Effect. Publication Number: 430F14041

George, P. G., Mace, R. E., & Petrossian, R. (2011). Aquifers of Texas. Austin, TX: Texas Water 
Development Board.

Natsios, A. S. (2018). Hurricane Harvey: Texas at risk (Texas General Land Office).

Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts. (2014). Texas water report: Going deeper for the solution. 
Austin, TX: Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts.

Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts. (2012). The Impact of the 2011 Drought and Beyond. 

Maliva, R.G; Missimer, Th. M (2012). Arid Lands Water Evaluation and Management. ISBN: 
978-3-642-29103-6

NOAA Climate Program Office, The Climate Explorer. Retrieved April 30, 2019, from: https://crt-
climate-explorer.nemac.org/

NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information (2019). State Climate Summaries: Texas. 
NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. Retrieved May 29, 2019 from: 
https://statesummaries.ncics.org/chapter/tx/

North Central Texas Council of Governments (2018). Air Quality Handbook. North Central Texas 
Council of Governments

Perica, Sanja; Pavlovic, Sandra; St. Laurent, Michael; Trypaluk, Carl; Unruh, Dale; Wilhite, Orlan 
(2018); NOAA Atlas 14: Precipitation-Frequency Atlas of the United States. Volume 11 Version 
2.0: Texas

Peterson, Thomas C.; Karl, Thomas R.; Kossin James P.; Kunkel, Kenneth E.; Lawrimore, Jay H.; 
McMahon, James R.; Vose, Russell S.; Yin, Xungang (2014). Changes in weather and climate 
extremes: State of knowledge relevant to air and water quality in the United States, Journal of the 
Air & Waste Management Association, 64:2, 184-197, DOI: 10.1080/10962247.2013.851044 

Texas A&M Forest Service. Texas Wildfire Risk Assessment Portal. Retrieved February 18, 2019, 
from https://www.texaswildfirerisk.com/Map/Public/#whats-your-risk

Texas State Historical Association (2018). Texas Droughts. Texas Almanac. Retrieved April 30, 
2019, from https://texasalmanac.com/topics/environment/texas-droughts

Upper Trinity Regional Water District (2019). Long-Term Water Supply Sources. Retrieved May 
30, 2019 from: http://www.utrwd.com/Treated_Water_Supply.html

US Department of Commerce, & NOAA. (2017). DFW Climate Narrative. Retrieved April 25, 
2019, from https://www.weather.gov/fwd/dnarrative

                                   Page 23



20 | P a g e

US Global Change Research Program (2018). Fourth National Climate Assessment. US Global 
Change Research Program. Retrieved on April 30, 2019, from https://nca2018.globalchange.gov/

Whitehead, R. L. (1996). Ground water atlas of the United States, U.S. Geological Survey

                                   Page 24



   
    WORKSHOP BUSINESS ITEM    3.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 10/17/2019  
Title: Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone and Transit Oriented Development District
Submitted For: Bob Hart, City Manager  Submitted By: Jason Alexander, Director
Finance Review: N/A Legal Review: N/A
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Land Development

Infrastructure Development
Economic Development
Regional Cooperation

AGENDA ITEM
Receive a presentation and discuss the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (TIRZ) and the Transit Oriented
Development (TOD) District.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
As complementary components, the TIRZ and the TOD are intended to spur mixed-use development focused
around a commuter rail stop. The purpose of this presentation is to provide the City Council with a list of projects
--- and their requested funding --- in support of development within the TIRZ and the TOD.  Further, the purpose
of this presentation to engage Council in a discussion about the projects, the requested financial contributions and
the process for moving forward with finalizing the financial plan for the TIRZ and securing Denton County's
participation in the same.

RECOMMENDATION
N/A.

                                   Page 25



   
    WORKSHOP BUSINESS ITEM    4.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 10/17/2019  
Title: Water Meter Reading Software
Submitted For: Bob Hart, City Manager  Submitted By: Kim Pence, City Secretary
Finance Review: N/A Legal Review: N/A
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: 

AGENDA ITEM
Review water meter reading software.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND

RECOMMENDATION

                                   Page 26



   
    CONSENT ITEM    1.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 10/17/2019  
Title: August 22, 2019 Workshop Session
Submitted For: Kim Pence, City Secretary  Submitted By: Kim Pence, City Secretary
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Citizen Engagement & Proactive

Government

AGENDA ITEM
Consider and act on minutes from the August 22, 2019 Workshop Session.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
Attached are the minutes from the August 22, 2019 Workshop Session. The minutes are in draft form and are not
considered official until formally approved by the City Council.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends approval of the August 22, 2019 Workshop Session minutes.

Attachments
Minutes 

                                   Page 27



 
 

STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF DENTON 

CITY OF CORINTH 
 
On this the 22nd day of August 2019 the City Council of the City of Corinth, Texas met in Workshop Session 
at the Corinth City Hall at 5:45 P.M., located at 3300 Corinth Parkway, Corinth, Texas. The meeting date, 
time, place and purpose as required by Title 5, Subtitle A, Chapter 551, Subchapter C, Section 551.041, 
Government Code, with the following members to wit: 
 
Members Present: 

Mayor Heidemann  
Sam Burke, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Scott Garber, Council Member 
Kelly Pickens, Council Member 
Tina Henderson, Council Member 
Lowell Johnson, Council Member  
 
Members Absent: 
None 
 
Staff Members Present 

Bob Hart, City Manager 
Kim Pence, City Secretary 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Finance, Administration, Communications & Marketing Director 
Patricia Adams, Messer, Rockefeller, & Fort 
Jerry Garner, Police Chief 
Cody Collier, Public Works Operations Director 
Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning and Development Director  
George Marshall, City Engineer 
Jason Alexander, Economic Development Corporation Director 
Brenton Copeland, Technology Services Assistant Manager 
Chris Rodriguez, Assistant Finance Director 
Brett Cast, Engineering Services Coordinator 
Lori Levy, Senior Planner 
Garret Skrehart, GIS Manager 
Ben Rodriguez, Planning & Development Manager 
Lana Wylie, Senior Administrative Assistant 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 

Mayor Heidemann called the meeting to order at 5:45 p.m.  
 

WORKSHOP BUSINESS AGENDA: 

 

 

1. Receive a report, hold a discussion, and provide staff direction on the Fiscal Year 2019-

2020 Annual Program of Services and Capital Improvement Program. 

 

Bob Hart, City Manager – Tonight we are looking at the utility fund and capital improvements. We 
will begin with the utility fund. Cody is here to answer any questions. 
 

                                   Page 28



 
 

 

 
 
We have the CIP coming up. A lot of what is on here, we will cover in the CIP.  

                                   Page 29



 
 

 
This includes the meter change out, getting the program up and activated, this will occur the upcoming 
fiscal year. This is the overview, there are no recommendation for changes in the utility rates.  
 

 
 
Upper Trinity is going up about 2.5%, we will be able to absorb those and over the course of the next 
couple of years we will look at where it ends up. 
 
Council Member Garber – The Upper Trinity that is increasing, is that not part of the pass through? 

                                   Page 30



 
 

Bob Hart, City Manager – We do have it as a pass through but they are going up some in the water 
and down in wastewater. I think if we get through this next year, we will reconcile between the water 
and wastewater side. We have some adjustments we need to do but we can do it at the end of the 
upcoming year. We also included putting money into the Asset Management Plan and the Rate 
Stabilization Fund. For the future, we have some funding out there, we will stay with our reserve 
requirement. It means we do have capacity for future debt. If we do issue debt, we would not be able 
to make the transfers because it will actually go to the debt of service. I think as we watch what will 
happen with the TIFF in the next year, I think some of the dust will begin to settle.  
 
Council Member Henderson – This one-time fee of the $53,500 for the one time programs, is that 
the meters or something else? 
 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer - Director of Finance, Communication & Strategic Services – The asset 
system. We have $45,000 for the work order asset management system and $8,500 for a dump bed 
trailer. 
 

 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – Scott, this goes back to your question on Upper Trinity. The water is 
increasing but the wastewater is decreasing. We need to get our piece back into balance. We were over 
collecting on wastewater so this gets us better in balance. The fixed cost would increase some but that 
is your gallon changes that is occurring. It is pretty minimal. 
 
On the storm water drainage overview, the storm water system on the budget is relatively straight 
forward. Dealing with some of the engineering analysis and some of the drainage areas we discussed 
at the last session and looking at resubmitting the Lynchburg Creek application. We are waiting for 
the analysis from FEMA. Hopefully we will receive that and it will sort out where we go. This is again, 
looking at the five year forecast. We still are maintaining the transfer to the Asset Management Plan, 
it is built into the five year plan. 

                                   Page 31



 
 

 

 
 
 
If you remember, going back about a year and a half ago, we discussed participating in the Thriving 
Earth Exchange Program with The American GeoPhysical Union. Everyone has been hard at work 
with the project. 
 
 
 

                                   Page 32



 
 

Ben Rodriguez, Planning & Development Manager – The projected was related to green 
infrastructure and ways we can use green methods to either detain or mitigate storm water run-off 
from properties. About a year ago, the city and TEX (Thriving Earth Exchange) reached out to begin 
this project. There has been change and turnover but we have worked together but have obtained a 
result that everyone will be happy with. 
 
The goal is to keep our waterways, lakes, creeks, streams clean from oils and pollutants that run off 
from driveways and parking lot into those water bodies. We explored using different methods to not 
only detain the water but also filter and clean it before it gets to Lake Lewisville or Lynchburg 
Creek.  
 
Fouad Jaber, Ph.D., P.E., Associate Professor and Extension Specialist– Texas A&M AgriLife 

Extension Service – I am a green infrastructure specialist. I am here presenting AGU. I was 
matched as a volunteer scientist to assist the city with this project. Basically I am a volunteer but this 
is what I do for a living too. We will show an approach to help the city developers, planners, 
engineers to think about more sustainable ways they can integrate, in their development, to keep the 
rivers and the lakes of the city clean.  
 
 
 

 
 

                                   Page 33



 
 

 
 
Garret Skrehart, GIS Manager – You are looking at a story map, it is a great vehicle, if you’re 
focused on one topic, for walking, people that visit a website, through your story. This is a website, 
there is nothing to download. You go to www.cityofcorinth.com/greeninfrastructure and anyone can 
see this. 
 

 
 
Ben Rodriguez, Planning & Development Manager – This page shows our overall study area. The 
idea is that this will be presented in Washington DC so we wanted to have a slide to show where 
Corinth is and what we are all about. This shows where we are in relation to Lake Lewisville and it 

                                   Page 34

http://www.cityofcorinth.com/greeninfrastructure


 
 

also show how Lynchburg Creek bisects the community.  

 
 
This shows innovative ways that storm water can be mitigated and filtered in a community. This 
example is from California where they use the median to hold the water and filter it, and also to slow 
the rate of the flow which reduces the amount of erosion impact downstream.  
 
This is an example of what Millennium Development will be doing in Corinth, where they will be 
utilizing something similar, as more of an amenity feature in the development. They will have patio 
seating alongside the waterway, instead of just a hole in the ground on the corner of a property. They 
are trying to leverage it and make it a nice part of the community.  
 

 

                                   Page 35



 
 

Garret Skrehart, GIS Manager – On this slide, we are reintroducing, going into a lot of detail 
about our study area, which is Lynchburg Creek. The story map is fully interactive. This is FEMA’s 
map of Lynchburg Creek line with our 3” aerial photography on the back. The user can zoom around 
the community. While they are scrolling through, learning about Lynchburg Creek.  
 

 
 
Fouad Jaber, Ph.D., P.E., Associate Professor and Extension Specialist– Texas A&M AgriLife  
Extension Service – I received a call asking if I would be interested in working with the City of 
Corinth as a volunteer representative of AGU. I have been a member for 20 years and it sounded an 
interesting opportunity. I worked with staff to hone down on the objectives of the project and came 
up with a nice plan to develop, with a focus on green infrastructure and you can see the list here, of 
the practices that we are going to talk with you more in details later. This project, Thriving Earth 
Exchange, is going to be presented in the AGU Fall Conference in San Francisco in December. They 
have several of these projects and they highlight them in a large reception room where thousands of 
people come and see them. I will not be in the country but maybe one of you could go.  
 

                                   Page 36



 
 

 
 
Garret Skrehart, GIS Manager – We are looking at green infrastructure techniques, you can see 
Lake Lewisville, and as soon as it hits our city limits, you use these different techniques depending 
on how far away from out creeks you are. You can read about that here and then as you scroll down, 
we zoom in to an area in Corinth. We go into a lot of detail about zones. As you know, this is the 
Amity Village type area, right off Lynchburg Creek and you can scroll through the different 
techniques that are promoted in Zone 1 and you can click on all of the links, they hyperlink.  
 

  
 
Ben Rodriguez, Planning & Development Manager – We also wanted to provide some examples 
of things that individual homeowners could do to help reduce the amount of storm water that runs 
off their property. Rain barrels and permeable driveways and various other methods can be used to 

                                   Page 37



 
 

help mitigate the amount of storm water that comes off a residential home site. Our assistant Fouad 
helped put together a video as well as some examples of a case study of a random lot in Corinth, to 
show what could be done to help.  
 

 
 
Fouad Jaber, Ph.D., P.E., Associate Professor and Extension Specialist– Texas A&M AgriLife  

Extension Service – This is detailed, so if a developer or engineer is interested, it would give them 
enough information to start thinking and doing the design themselves. I randomly selected a house, 
as you can see, the orange is permeable pavement. The driveway which is pavement that can hold 
the weight of a car but it also allows water to infiltrate through so it would reduce runoff. The small 
red circle is rainwater harvesting. That is a recommended 2,000 gallon tank because of the size of 
the roof. It can collect enough water to meet 2/3 of that person’s water requirement and at the same 
time, reduce run-off. The walkway to the entrance of the house can also be permeable pavement, a 
different type that won’t cost as much because it is just for walking. In the dark green, the right of 
way, the section between the sidewalk and the road, that can be converted into a rain garden. It can 
have an opening in the curb and as water is running down, along the street, from upstream, it enters 
that right of way which can be done as a depression. Water can go in it, infiltrate the vegetation 
selected for that rain garden which can handle both wet and drought conditions. There are list of 
trees and vegetation that can handle these conditions. For each of the practices I did the design, 
determined what was needed and summarized the details, in white.  
 
 

                                   Page 38



 
 

 
 
Ben Rodriguez, Planning & Development Manager – This is an example of what some of our 
businesses have already started doing here in Corinth. At the Subaru dealership, they put in a 
bioswaile. The design has a pervious pipe so water will accumulate and filter through the ground and 
be clean before it hits our drainage system. It provides us a cleaner water source before it gets to our 
creeks and streams. 
 

 
 
Fouad Jaber, Ph.D., P.E., Associate Professor and Extension Specialist– Texas A&M AgriLife  

Extension Service – We selected the City of Corinth for a commercial facility case study. The 
island in the visitor’s parking lot can be converted into a watershed without any modification of the 

                                   Page 39



 
 

parking lot slope. Where the rain falls in the blue area it will drain straight to the island. If we 
convert the island from an elevated island that is contributing run off into a rain garden that is 
depressed with curb openings, water can infiltrate and be treated. The red and yellow area do not 
flow into the island. We put the permeable pavement where water can flow into which treats the rain 
water and sediment from these systems. We did a similar system for the employee parking and from 
the building we put a large rain water harvesting based on the size of where the downspout on the 
southwest corner of the building. The watershed area is in green. Water comes into that downspout 
and based on the size, we would recommend a 7,500 gallon tank that can be used to water landscape. 
Same as with the residential case study, we calculated in white, the details of the suggested 
modifications. 
 
The goal is to provide a visual for developers or engineers who are interested in keeping the lakes 
and streams clean, to understand what is needed and the practices available; to have enough 
information though the links to be able to drill down and understand the concept of design. We have 
an example of residential and commercial systems. The goal is to have an easy to see menu. We 
have discussed having a series of lectures that addresses each of these practices that can be open to 
the public, developers, engineers, anyone who is interested.  
 

 
 

                                   Page 40



 
 

 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – We have been working with the Pennell family about getting some of the 
property along Lynchburg Creek for drainage and walking trails. We have discussed working with the 
Upper Trinity trust fund to take title of those properties. We have had some conversations and they 
were particular about what they wanted to protect. We met with them yesterday and in advance of the 
meeting I sent them the link to the Green Infrastructure Program. When I arrived, they had already 
been through the presentation and said, anything Corinth wants to do, any way you want to set it up, 
to pass this land through, we are on board; we like everything that is going on here.  
 
Council Member Pickens – The permeable driveways, what does a traditional concrete driveway 
cost? 
 
Fouad Jaber, Ph.D., P.E., Associate Professor and Extension Specialist– Texas A&M AgriLife  

Extension Service – A square foot of parking is in the range of $6 - $10. The permeable material is 
not much more expensive, it is $8 - $12 but there is a need for pre-preparation of the area that can cost 
$3 - $4 per square foot. When you use these systems in a development, if the developer uses this 
system, it can replace a required detention pond or reduce the size of a detention pond; and as a result 
they can add another home and that house will make the developer enough profit to cover the cost. 
These additions will also increase your property value by five to 10 percent. There are ways to make 
it more appealing to developers. 
 
Council Member Garber – Are we planning on writing this into development standards or is it an 
option? Are there any issues with residents harvesting rain in Corinth? Are there any regulations 
against, outside of HOA’s? 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – That will be one of the conversations discussed in the comprehensive land 
use plan. It will be a discussion in the spring. 
 
Fouad Jaber, Ph.D., P.E., Associate Professor and Extension Specialist – Texas A&M AgriLife  

Extension Service – It is illegal to ban water harvesting in Texas. There is a state bill, you can have 
regulations on it but cannot ban it. 

                                   Page 41



 
 

Council Member Garber – Do we have regulations regarding it, regarding location? If we are 
presenting rain water harvesting, I think folks may be excited about it. It may be good to get a link to 
our regulations. 
 
Lori Levy – Senior Planner – In the intro sheets, we have a link, with each of the infrastructure 
techniques. On that sheet it has minimum construction standards for each of them from the iSWIM 
manual, from NCTCOG. There is also maintenance of any of the techniques, included.  
 
Council Member Henderson – Would the HOA’s approve those types of drives? 
 
Council Member Pickens – Does the driveway look different than concrete? 
 
Fouad Jaber, Ph.D., P.E., Associate Professor and Extension Specialist– Texas A&M AgriLife  

Extension Service – You use interlocking pavers. They have space in between with gravel. There is 
pervious asphalt, which looks like regular asphalt. There are different options and HOA’s can probably 
place limits.  
 

Bob Hart, City Manager – This is the overview of the CIP, this is projects over $50,000. Items such 
as acquisition of property, water, streets, waste water lines, buildings and so forth. They are broken 
down within the tax increment district, within the transit development and other.  
 

 

                                   Page 42



 
 

 

 

                                   Page 43



 
 

 
 
Here we are looking at street improvements. They are broken down within the Tax Increment 
District, Transit Development and other. The next slide has the map which is easier to understand. 
 
George Marshall, City Engineer – The cells bordered in red, we are looking to get participation 
from Denton County. The blue is what changed from what was published in your budget book. We 
reviewed the projects, some required modifications and put some projects in different places. 
  

 

                                   Page 44



 
 

Bob Hart, City Manager – This is within the TOD. We will be going to Denton County requesting 
participation on the TIF. We will bring the ordinance to you September 5th. Denton County is also 
looking at a transportation bond election on the November or May 2020 ballot. We will discuss the 
TIF and about getting projects in. As we talk about the CIP, it is with that in mind. We had a great 
visit with John Polster. We have to deal with the judge and Hugh Coleman. We had a lengthy visit on 
strategy. 
 
The conversation with Paris Rutherford, the original plan had NCTC Way coming out and North 
Corinth Street would come down, connect with Walton. When we met with DCTA we talked with 
Lockwood Anderson Engineers, the problem we would have with the rail stop, in this location is the 
rail crossing at Corinth Parkway and the rail crossing at Walton and North Corinth Street were too 
close. They need a minimum of 1,400 – 1,500 feet. This will be revised so that North Corinth Street 
will come down, bend over and Walton would dead end and come down to Corinth Parkway. This 
was showing on the plan but we eliminate is the crossing to connect back to the frontage road. We will 
have two crossings that gives you the length to have the stop work. If we do it this way, we have to 
have North Corinth Street and NCTC Way built when the rail stop starts so you can get in and out. It 
actually works better for the properties. The traffic flow is much better. What you see on the budget 
is the design and the right of way for these two projects show up here and here with the following year 
we would be rebuilding the street. That would eliminate the railroad crossing. 
 

 
 
Within the TIF and this goes back to the conversation with the county, everything in the TOD we want 
to go to the county. We are showing the Lake Sharon/Dobbs alignment, we are moving forward. That 
is what you would see we focused on this year and also trying to finalize the Quail Run realignment. 
All the other projects, we will discuss Parkridge participation with the county. We have talked about 
Garrison, Riverview, old 77. The next five we will pick up with Shady Shores. This will end up being 
a prime candidate for county participation either within the TIF or within the county bond program, 
which may be a better way. We have included in the budget about $25,000 with the idea of trying to 
conversation started between us, Shady Shores, Denton and Denton County. We might need to spend 

                                   Page 45



 
 

some money to do some concept designs. We also have included a mill overlay in the budget on old 
77 and on Riverview. Riverview is the number one complaint we receive on street conditions.  
 
 

 
 
We have included about $25,000 with the idea of getting conversation started between us and Shady 
Shores, Denton and Denton County. We might need to spend on design or concept design work. We 
have also included a mill overlay at old 77 and on Riverview. Riverview is the number one complaint 
we receive on street conditions.  

                                   Page 46



 
 

 
 
Here is Wastewater, it’s the same kind of map but everything will be tied together with the TIF and 
the TOD and Water. 
 
George Marshall, City Engineer – As you will see, there is no highlighted red because typically the 
county is not going to participate in utility work unless the work is directly related to the street being 
realigned and the utilities have to be moved. We will review this when each project moves forward.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – The first is the engineering work that will be related to North Corinth 
Street and NCTC Way that you saw on the street, a while ago. The following year, building the water 
and wastewater lines. On the Wastewater side we have the Parkridge sewer. 
 
George Marshall, City Engineer – We are under design with the leg from the southern city limit line 
down to Turberville which would get us into a gravity line and that gets us the 60gpm capacity. Moving 
it to next year, once the plans are available and we see there’s a potential development wanting to 
come through, then we would go to constructing that. Most of these funds for water and wastewater 
are all tied back to the impact fees.  
 

                                   Page 47



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – This is the water and wastewater within the TIF boundaries. Again, going 
back to North Corinth Street, NCTC Way in the TOD. 

                                   Page 48



 
 

 
Then with Storm water/Drainage. We will resubmit the Lynchburg Grant and if you remember from 
the map, this is where they will begin doing the engineering analysis to come up with a plan to fix 
some of the drainage issues. 
 
George Marshall, City Engineer – Then you have the design would potentially be necessary for the 
site for the TOD if there’s wetlands or flood plain mitigation and also the Lynchburg Creek area 
number two, the Robert Ray tract, there is some flood plain mitigation that would be necessary there 
as well so we would incorporate that into the plan. 
 

                                   Page 49



 
 

 
George Marshall, City Engineer – This is the map of all the sites, we went over this in the last 
council meeting.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – This is public utilities and CIP. All straightforward and pretty consistent. 
 

 
 
Council Member Garber – Is there a better chance now with a bond election potentially looming that 
we could get more of this paid for through the county? This is a well laid out plan, it just seems like it 

                                   Page 50



 
 

would be not a whole lot of money in the grand scheme of things. 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – There is going to be some conversations in the next few weeks but I think 
having some things on the bond election will be important and the TIF will be important. We have to 
figure out how to leverage the two to maximize the dollars. I think there is a lot of logic and that there 
will be some good buy in. John Polster is impressed with it. We have to get our head around it and 
between now and September 5th we will talk a lot about the TIF and that is when you will want to talk 
about some of the strategy. We are meeting with David Pettit next week to help us think through a lot 
of this and between the 5th and the middle of November is when we want to have visits with the judge 
and Hugh Coleman and that is when you will start to layout all of the strategy. 
 
Council Member Johnson – On Garrison Street we have some developer money that we have had 
for a while. Is it included in this number, 20-21, 22? 
 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer - Director of Finance, Communication & Strategic Services – We have 
about $153,000. We will include it in here. 

 

2. Discuss Regular Meeting Items on Regular Session Agenda, including the consideration 

of closed session items as set forth in the Closed Session agenda items below. 
 

Council Member Burke – On the legislative, what are we doing to address those? 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – I would like to go to executive session now. We can do that prior to the 
meeting.  
 

Mayor Heidemann – We will go into executive session and cover Section 551.071, Texas House Bill 
2439, 2497, 3317 and 3167 and MCM Contract at 6:33pm. 
 

CLOSED SESSION 

The City Council will convene in such executive or (closed session) to consider any matters regarding any 
of the above agenda items as well as the following matters pursuant to Chapter 551 of the Texas  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Government Code. 

Section 551.071. (1) Private consultation with its attorney to seek advice about pending or contemplated 
litigation; and/or settlement offer; and/or (2) a matter in which the duty of the attorney to the government body 
under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar of Texas clearly conflicts with the 
Texas Open Meetings Act.  
 

Council met in executive session from 6:33pm – 6:54pm. 

 

a.Texas House Bills 2439, 2497,3314 and 3167, and new laws. 

b. MCM Contract for Lake Sharon Roadway Extension. 

 

Section 551.072. To deliberate the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property if deliberation in an 
open meeting would have a detrimental effect on the position of the governmental body in negotiations with 
a third person. 
 
A. Potential acquisition of real property along Corinth Parkway for infrastructure, open space and 

transit related facilities. 

Section 551.074. To deliberate the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, 

                                   Page 51



 
 

discipline, or dismissal of a public officer or employee; or to hear a complaint or charge against an 
officer or employee. 

 
Section 551.087. To deliberate or discuss regarding commercial or financial information that the 
governmental body has received from a business prospect that the governmental body seeks to have locate, 
stay, or expand in or near the territory of the governmental body and with which the governmental body is 
conducting economic development negotiations; or to deliberate the offer of a financial or other incentive to 
a business prospect. 

RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION TO TAKE ACTION, IF NECESSARY, ON CLOSED SESSION 

ITEMS. 

 

ADJOURN: 

 
Mayor Heidemann adjourned the meeting at 6:54 p.m. 
 

AYES: All 
 

Meeting adjourned. 
 
Approved by Council on the    day of    , 2019.  

 
 

       
Kimberly Pence, City Secretary 
City of Corinth, Texas 

                                   Page 52



   
    CONSENT ITEM    2.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 10/17/2019  
Title: August 22, 2019 Regular Session
Submitted For: Kim Pence, City Secretary  Submitted By: Kim Pence, City Secretary
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Citizen Engagement & Proactive

Government

AGENDA ITEM
Consider and act on minutes from the August 22, 2019 Regular Session.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
Attached are the minutes from the August 22, 2019 Regular Session. The minutes are in draft form and are not
considerd official until formally approved by the City Council.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends approval of the August 22, 2019 Regular Session minutes.

Attachments
Minutes 

                                   Page 53



 

STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF DENTON 

CITY OF CORINTH 
 
On this the 22nd day of August 2019 the City Council of the City of Corinth, Texas met in Special Session at 
the Corinth City Hall at 7:00 P.M., located at 3300 Corinth Parkway, Corinth, Texas. The meeting date, time, 
place and purpose as required by Title 5, Subtitle A, Chapter 551, Subchapter C, Section 551.041, Government 
Code, with the following members to wit: 
 
Members Present: 

Bill Heidemann, Mayor 
Sam Burke, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Scott Garber, Council Member 
Lowell Johnson, Council Member  
Tina Henderson, Council Member 
Kelly Pickens, Council Member  
 
Members Absent: 
None 
 
Staff Members Present 

Bob Hart, City Manager 
Jerry Garner, Chief of Police 
Michael Ross, Fire Chief 
Brenton Copeland, Technology Services Asst. Manager 
Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning and Development Director  
George Marshall, City Engineer 
Ben Rodriquez, Planning and Development Manager 
Brett Cast, Engineering Services Coordinator 
Garrett Skrehart, GIS Manager 
Cody Collier, Public Works Director 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Director of Finance, Communication & Strategic Services 
Chris Rodriquez, Asst. Finance Director 
Jason Alexander, Economic Development Corporation Director 
Patricia Adams, Messer, Rockefeller, & Fort 
Kim Pence, City Secretary 
 
CALL TO ORDER, INVOCATION, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE & TEXAS PLEDGE: 

"Honor the Texas Flag: I pledge allegiance to thee, Texas, one state under God, one and indivisible".  

 
Mayor Heidemann called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m., Councilmember Garber delivered the 

invocation and led in the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 

PRESENTATION: 

Sue Tejml, Board Member, Denco Area 9-1-1 will give an update to City Council on the Denco Area 9-1-1- 
District.  
 
In the last year 13 Counties around us have lost their 9-1-1, Tarrant County for five hours, Collin County for 
one hour among other counties. Denco 9-1-1 answers every day 900 to 1,000 calls. Within the first minute in 
a half to two in a half minutes they have reached their first responder to dispatch. Can you imagine calling 9-
1-1- and getting a busy signal or calling back desperately and getting no answer at all. Denco Area 9-1-1 gets 

                                   Page 54



 

their fees from the state. They charge 50 cents a month on your cell phone and about 85% of our income comes 
from those 50 cent cell phone calls. If you have a land line we know where you are but we have to keep up 
with GIS because everybody calls from their cell phone these days.  
 
We recently completed an annex, there are only about 3 in the State of Texas for 9-1-1. What that means if 
you have a tornado come in it will survive. If you have a freeze that takes out your electricity, it will survive 
and could probably survive a terrorist attack but as you well know a tornado does not observe city boundary 
lines and we all live side by side. With the annex, your call takers can come to our annex start receiving 
emergency calls from your area and dispatching right away and that is huge.  
 
I would like to ask you on your next agenda to put a vote for the board member for Denco Area 9-1-1. This is 
not a plea for my election, I have 20 votes but it is a way for you to say to the 9-1-1 organization in Denton 
County that you appreciate them and respect them. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA: 

All matters listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted in one 

motion. Should the Mayor, a Councilmember, or any citizen desire discussion of any Item that Item will 

be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 
 

1. Consider and act on the fiscal year 2019-2020 Proposed Budget for the City of Corinth Crime Control 
 and Prevention District. 
 
2. Consider and act on an ordinance reviewing and amending the Master Fee Schedule to incorporate 
 changes to the City’s Credit Card Processing Fees effective October 1, 2019. 
 
3. Consider approval of authorizing the payment to Upper Trinity Regional Water District for materials 
 purchased per the Inter local Agreement Amendment No. 1 for the construction of the Lake Sharon 
 Waterline in the amount of $62,118.47 and authorizing the City Manager to execute any necessary 
 documents. 
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Garber to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. Seconded by 
Councilmember Henderson. 
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Johnson, Henderson, Pickens 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 

 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

CITIZEN'S COMMENTS: 
In accordance with the Open Meetings Act, Council is prohibited from acting on or discussing (other than 
factual responses to specific questions) any items brought before them at this time. Citizen's comments will be 
limited to 3 minutes. Comments about any of the Council agenda items are appreciated by the Council and 
may be taken into consideration at this time or during that agenda item. Please complete a Public Input form 
if you desire to address the City Council. All remarks and questions addressed to the Council shall be addressed 
to the Council as a whole and not to any individual member thereof. Section 30.041B Code of Ordinance of 
the City of Corinth. 
 

No one spoke during Citizens Comments. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING: 

                                   Page 55



 

 

4. Hold a public hearing on a proposal to consider a tax rate, which will exceed the lower of the 
 rollback rate or the effective tax rate and will increase total tax revenues from properties on the tax 
 roll in the preceding tax year by 13.17 percent. 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager - According to Property Tax Code Section 26.05(d), the City is required to hold two 
public hearings on the proposed tax increase if the City Council is proposing a rate that exceeds the lower of 
the rollback rate or the effective rate.  Additional requirements include publishing a quarter-page notice 
informing the public of the proposed tax rate, preceding year tax rate, effective & rollback tax rate, formula 
for estimated tax amount, and the date, time, and location of the two required public hearings. The Notice of 
2019 Tax Year Proposed Property Tax Rate for the City of Corinth was published in the Denton Record 
Chronicle on Tuesday, August 13, 2019, as required by the Texas Property Tax Code timetables.  
  
The publication notices were calculated based on the highest possible rate the City Council may consider.  The 
City Council may adopt any rate below the published tax rate. 
  
On August 8, 2019, the City Council voted to publish a FY2019-2020 tax rate of $.54500 that they will consider 
approving on September 19, 2019.   
 
Mayor Heidemann opened the Public Hearing at 7:35 p.m. No one spoke during the Public Hearing. Mayor 
Heidemann closed the Public Hearing at 7:35 p.m. 
 

5. The Corinth City Council will conduct a Public Hearing to consider testimony and act upon an 
 ordinance amending the City's Unified Development Code, Section 3: Subdivision Regulations, 
 subsection 3.02: “Subdivision submittal and processing procedures.” 
 
Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning and Development Director - H.B. 3167 was signed by Governor Abbot on 
June 14, 2019. H.B. 3167 places statutory time requirements for plat approvals effective on September 1, 2019.  
  
The new time requirements state that plats must be approved within 30 days of receiving an application. While 
this 30 day rule has been in state law for a number of years, typically developers and residents would submit 
a waiver of their right to a 30 day review to allow additional time for communication with staff and to allow 
their consultants time to make any necessary changes to the documents following the City's review. 
 
The changes to state law remove the ability for applicants to waive their right to a 30 day review and requires 
that any extensions be granted by the Planning and Zoning Commission and are limited to one 30 day 
extension. 
 
The ordinance under consideration will ensure that the City is in compliance with the state law changes which 
will go into effect on September 1, 2019. 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously recommended approval and staff recommends approval 
as well.  
 
Mayor Heidemann opened the Public Hearing at 7:38 p.m. No one spoke during the Public Hearing. Mayor 
Heidemann closed the Public Hearing at 7:38 p.m. 
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Garber to approve as presented. Seconded by Councilmember Burke.  
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Johnson, Henderson, Pickens 
NOES:  None 

                                   Page 56



 

ABSENT: None 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

6. The Corinth City Council will conduct a Public Hearing to consider testimony and act upon an 
 ordinance amending the City's Unified Development Code, Section 2: Zoning Regulations, 
 subsection 2.09: Zoning Development Standards, 2.09.04   Building Façade & Material Standards. 
 
Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning and Development Director - On June 14, 2019 Governor Abbot signed HB 
2439 which places limits on municipal regulation of building materials used for both residential and non-
residential structures. 
 
Beginning on September 1, 2019, any material listed as approved for use in a National Model Code, including 
the International Building Code within the last three code cycles are allowed.  
  
The effect of this means that municipalities may no longer specify required masonry percentages, or the 
materials, that the structure is built with provided it is allowed in a National Model Code. 
 
Additionally, H.B. 2497 which will also be in effect on September 1, 2019 amends municipal zoning board of 
adjustment procedures to allow anyone within 200 feet of a property to appeal a decision made by an 
administrative official to the Board of Adjustment. Previously only property owners or those with direct 
interest in a property affected by a decision made by an administrative official could appeal the decision. 
  
The proposed ordinance ensures that the City will be in compliance with the changes in state law effective on 
September 1, 2019. 
 
Mayor Heidemann opened the Public Hearing at 7:40 p.m. No one spoke during the Public Hearing. Mayor 
Heidemann closed the Public Hearing at 7:40 p.m. 
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Henderson to approve as presented. Seconded by Councilmember Burke.  
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Johnson, Henderson, Pickens 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

BUSINESS AGENDA: 

 
7. Consider and act on an Ordinance amending Chapter 33 "Boards, Commissions, and Departments" of 
 Title III "Administration" of the Code of Ordinances by adding subsections 33.10 through 33.15 to 
 create a Parks and Recreation Board for the City of Corinth. 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager - This Ordinance is being brought to you based on some of the discussions with the 
budget and strategic plan in terms of resident engagement. The proposed ordinance creates a five member 
parks and recreation board with a focus on the following elements: 
 
1.         Act in an advisory capacity to the City Council and the Director of Public Works pertaining to parks 
 and recreation, and cooperate with other governmental agencies, civic groups and all citizens of the 
 City in the advancement of sound parks and recreation planning and programming; 
  

                                   Page 57



 

2.         Recommend policies related to parks and recreation for approval by the City Council; 
 
3.         Recommend the adoption of standards for parks, playgrounds, and trails and their financial support; 
  
4.         Make or cause to be made an annual review of existing recreation services and a survey of services, 
 including existing services provided and services needed.  The Board shall interpret the findings of 
 such review and survey to discern the needs of the public and shall relate that interpretation to the City 
 Council and to the Director of Public Works along with recommendations on planning and 
 implementation; 
  
5.         Aid in coordinating trail connections with the programs of other governmental agencies and interested 
 groups; 
  
6.         Review the effectiveness of the parks and recreation program with the Director of Public Works and 
 the City Manager; and 
  
7.         Serve as an advocate for parks and recreation services to the public. 
 
Creation of the board will be beneficial in the future if the city seeks grant funding for park and trail 
improvements.   
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Johnson to approve as presented. Seconded by Councilmember Pickens. 
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Johnson, Henderson, Pickens 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
8. Consider and act on an Ordinance amending Chapter 33 "Boards, Commissions and Departments of 
 the Code of Ordinances adopting amendments to the membership, procedure, purpose, and related 
 provisions applicable to the Keep Corinth Beautiful Commission. 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager - The proposed ordinance expands the KCB board from five members to seven.  It 
also extends the length of service to four terms rather than three terms. Further, the ordinance focuses the 
efforts to the following: 
 
1. Actively promote community beautification efforts, litter prevention, and waste reduction.  
           
2. Determine and recommend to the City Council management and program priorities on a citywide 
 basis; 
3. Recommend enforcement and additional program alternatives; 
 
4. Monitor City performance from data collected and examined under the Keep Texas Beautiful, Inc. 
 Affiliate System guidelines and make an annual report to the City Council; 
 
5. Maintain membership in Keep Texas Beautiful as an affiliate. 
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Johnson to approve as presented. Seconded by Councilmember Garber.  
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Johnson, Henderson, Pickens 

                                   Page 58



 

NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
 

COUNCIL COMMENTS & FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

The purpose of this section is to allow each councilmember the opportunity to provide general updates and/or 
comments to fellow councilmembers, the public, and/or staff on any issues or future events. Also, in 
accordance with Section 30.085 of the Code of Ordinances, at this time, any Councilmember may direct that 
an item be added as a business item to any future agenda. 
 
Councilmember Henderson - reminded the Mayor, Council and staff of the ribbing cutting and grand opening 
tomorrow at 11:30 a.m. at the Millennium Place Apartments.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager - the North Texas Commission luncheon will be on Monday, September 16th and 
would like over the next couple of days who would like to attend.  
 
Mayor Heidemann - I was at COG most of the day and it was really an eye opener for me. I see so much 
benefit in this organization where they can help us because we are not a big city and we don't have excess staff 
and they have a lot of expertise that reside there and can be very beneficial to us in terms of future projects 
that the city will have to undertake.  
 

There was no Closed Session during the Regular Schedule meeting.  

 
CLOSED SESSION 

The City Council will convene in such executive or (closed session) to consider any matters regarding any of 
the above agenda items as well as the following matters pursuant to Chapter 551 of the Texas Government 
Code. Closed Session may happen at any time during the Workshop Session and before the start of a 

City Council Regular Session. 
 
Section 551.071.  (1) Private consultation with its attorney to seek advice about pending or contemplated 
litigation; and/or settlement offer; and/or (2) a matter in which the duty of the attorney to the government 
body under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of the State of Texas clearly conflicts with 
Chapter 551.  
 
a. Texas House Bills 2439, 2497, 3314 and 3167, and new laws. 
b. MCM Contract for Lake Sharon Roadway Extension. 
 
Section 551.072. To deliberate the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property if deliberation in an 
open meeting would have a detrimental effect on the position of the government body in negotiations with a 
third person 
 
Section 551.074. To deliberate the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline, or 
dismissal of a public officer or employee; or to hear a complaint or charge against an officer or employee. 
 
Section 551.087 To deliberate or discuss regarding commercial or financial information that the governmental 
body has received from a business prospect that the governmental body seeks to have locate, stay, or expand in 
or near the territory of the governmental body and with which the governmental body is conducting economic 
development negotiations; or to deliberate the offer of a financial or other incentive to a business prospect. 
 

                                   Page 59



 

After discussion of any matters in closed session, any final action or vote taken will be in public by the City 
Council. City Council shall have the right at any time to seek legal advice in Closed Session from its Attorney 
on any agenda item, whether posted for Closed Session or not. Closed Session may happen at any time during 
the Workshop Session and before the start of a City Council Regular Session. 
 

RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION - In accordance with Texas Government Code, Chapter 551 the City 
Council will reconvene into Regular Session to consider action, if any, on matters discussed in Executive 
Session.  
 
9. Consider and act on the Termination and Settlement Agreement for Paving, Drainage and Water 
 Improvements for Lake Sharon Drive, by and between the City, Magnum Construction Management, 
 LLC f/k/a Munilla Construction Management, LLC, and Berkshire, Hathaway Specialty Insurance 
 Company; and authorizing the City Manager or his designee to execute necessary documents. 
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Burke to approve the termination and settlement agreement for Paving, 
Drainage and Water  Improvements for the Lake Sharon Drive project between the City of Corinth and 
Munilla Construction Management, L.L.C and Berkshire, Hathaway Specialty Insurance Company; and 
authorize any necessary minor modifications that do not increase total expenditures by the city and to authorize 
the City Manager to execute the agreement with finalized exhibits. Seconded by Councilmember Johnson.   
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Johnson, Henderson, Pickens 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 
10. Consider and act on the Tender Agreement for Completion of the Lake Sharon Drive Project, by and 
 between the City, Berkshire Hathaway Specialty Insurance Company, and Wildstone Construction, 
 LLC; and authorizing the City Manager or his designee to execute necessary documents. 
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Burke to approve the Tender Agreement for Completion of the Lake 
Sharon Drive Project, by and between the City, Berkshire Hathaway Specialty Insurance Company, and 
Wildstone Construction, LLC; and authorize any necessary minor modifications that do not increase total 
expenditures by the City and to authorize the City Manager to execute the agreement with finalized exhibits. 
Seconded by Councilmember Henderson.  
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Johnson, Henderson, Pickens 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: None 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
ADJOURN: 

 
Mayor Heidemann adjourned the meeting at 7:45 P.M. 
 
AYES: All 
 
Meeting adjourned. 
 
Approved by Council on the    day of    , 2019.  

                                   Page 60



 

 
 
       
Kimberly Pence, City Secretary 
City of Corinth, Texas 

                                   Page 61



   
    PUBLIC HEARING    3.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 10/17/2019  
Title: Twisted Cycles Planned Development
Submitted For: Helen-Eve Liebman, Director  Submitted By: Ben Rodriguez, Manager
Finance Review: N/A Legal Review: Yes
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Land Development

AGENDA ITEM
The Corinth City Council will hold a public hearing, consider testimony, and act upon a request for a zoning
change from C-2, Commercial to Planned Development (PD) with a base zoning district of C-2, Commercial
in order to operate a motorcycle dealership with light repairs on a 1.13 acre tract of land legally described as
Kensington Park Addition, Block A, Lot 3 in the City of Corinth, Denton County, Texas, and is more
commonly known as 7700 South I-35E. This property is located north of FM 2181, south of Riverview Drive,
east of S. Garrison Rd. and west of IH35. (Twisted Cycles Planned Development)

  
1. Staff Presentation
2. Applicant Presentation
3. Public Hearing
4. Staff Response
5. Take Action

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
The applicant is requesting a planned development district to facilitate the use of a motorcycle dealership within the
structure most recently occupied by Discount Tire.
 
The City’s code of ordinances states that automobile sales are allowed via a Specific Use Permit, however the code
is unclear as to whether or not motorcycles are included as an automobile use. Staff reviewed other motorcycle uses
currently within the city such as the existing Harley Davidson dealership and discovered that these have historically
been permitted via a planned development district to add motorcycle related sales and uses to the properties.
 
The applicant intends to display a select number of motorcycles in front of the building during operating hours
which will be stored indoors after hours. The applicant also intends to provide repair services to customers,
including items such as oil changes, tire changes, and accessory installation. The applicant would be allowed to
perform major repairs for motorcycles in the future if desired.
 
Finally, the applicant is proposing the addition of shade structures within a portion of the parking area to provide
covered parking spaces for customers during summer months and rainy days similar to the canopies installed by
other motorcycle dealerships within the City. All outdoor display and shade structures shall not be permitted in the
fire lane at any time.

RECOMMENDATION
The Planning and Zoning Commission will act on this item at a special called meeting on October 16, 2019. Staff
will inform the City Council of their decision at the October 17, 2019 City Council meeting.

Staff recommends approval as presented.

                                   Page 62



Attachments
Twisted Cycles PD Ordinance 

                                   Page 63



ORDINANCE NO. 19-10-17-

TWISTED CYCLES PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT #52

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE ZONING 

ORDINANCE AND ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CORINTH, EACH 

BEING A PART OF THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE OF THE CITY, 

BY AMENDING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION FROM C-2, 

COMMERCIAL TO PD-PLANNED DEVELOPMENT ZONING DISTRICT 

WITH A BASE ZONING DESIGNATION OF C-2, COMMERCIAL ON AN 

APPROXIMATE 1.13 ACRE TRACT OF LAND LEGALLY DESCRIBED AS 

LOT 3, BLOCK A OF THE KENSINGTON PARK ADDITION SITUATED IN 

THE H.H. SWISHER SURVEY, ABSTRACT NUMBER 1220, CITY OF 

CORINTH, DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS; PROVING FOR THE 

INCORPORATION OF PREMISES; PROVIDING A LEGAL PROPERTY 

DESCRIPTION; APPROVING A PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT 

PLAN; APPROVING PLANNED DEVELOPMENT LAND USE 

REGULATIONS; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY NOT TO EXCEED $2,000 

A DAY FOR EACH VIOLATION OF THE ORDINANCE; PROVIDING A 

CUMULATIVE REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE;  

PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY 

CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, the City of Corinth, Texas has adopted Ordinance 13-05-02-08, which adopts 
a Unified Development Code of the City, which includes the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance and 
which, in accordance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, establishes zoning districts and adopts a 
Zoning Map; and

WHEREAS, the Property (described below in Exhibit “A”) is zoned as PD-Planned 
Development zoning district more specifically identified as Twisted Cycles Planned Development 
District No. 52 (“PD-52”) with a base zoning designation of C-2, Commercial under the City's 
Unified Development Code and designated on the City’s Zoning Map,  and an authorized person 
having a proprietary interest in the Property has requested a change in the zoning classification of 
said Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Corinth and the City 
Council of the City of Corinth, having given the requisite notices by publication and otherwise, and 
after holding due hearings and affording a full and fair hearing to all the property owners generally, 
and to the persons interested and situated in the affected area and in the vicinity thereof, the City of 
Corinth City Council is of the opinion that said change in zoning should be made; and

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the following factors in making a determination as 
to whether the requested change should be granted or denied: safety of the motoring public and 
pedestrians using the facilities in the area immediately surrounding the sites; safety from fire hazards 
and damages; noise producing elements and glare of the vehicular and stationary lights and effect of 
such lights on established character of neighborhoods; location, and types of signs and relation of 
signs to traffic control and adjacent property; street size and adequacy of width for traffic reasonably 
expected to be generated by the proposed use around the site and in the immediate neighborhood; 
adequacy of parking as determined by requirements of this ordinance for off-street parking facilities; 
location of ingress and egress points for parking and off-street loading spaces, and protection of 
public health by surfacing on all parking areas to control dust; effect on the promotion of health and 
the general welfare; effect on light and air; effect on the over-crowding of the land; effect on the 

                                   Page 64



concentration of population, and effect on transportation, water, sewerage, schools, parks and other 
public facilities; and

WHEREAS, the City Council further considered among other things the character of the 
proposed district and its peculiar suitability for particular use requested and the view to conserve the 
value of the buildings, and encourage the most appropriate use of the land throughout this City; and

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the change in zoning for the Property promotes the 
health and the general welfare, provides adequate light and air, prevents the over-crowding of land, 
avoids undue concentration of population, and facilitates the adequate provision of transportation, 
water, sewerage, schools, parks and other public requirements; and the general health, safety and 
welfare of the community; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CORINTH, TEXAS: 

SECTION 1.

INCORPORATION OF PREMISES

The above and foregoing recitals are found to be true and correct and are incorporated into 
the body of this Ordinance for all purposes.

SECTION 2

LEGAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION; AMENDMENT

That Ordinance 13-05-02-08, adopting the Unified Development Code of the City of Corinth 
(“UDC”), which UDC includes the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance that establishes zoning 
districts in accordance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan,  and adopts the Zoning Map of the City 
of Corinth, is hereby amended to change the zoning classification  on an approximate 1.13 acre tract 
of land described in "Exhibit A" attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Property”), from C-
2, Commercial to a PD-Planned Development zoning district with a base zoning designation of C-2, 
Commercial and identified as Twisted Cycles Planned Development District No. 52 (“PD-52”), and 
the Zoning Map of the City is also hereby amended to reflect the new zoning classification for the 
Property.

SECTION 3.

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLAN

The Planned Development Concept Plan for the Property as set forth in “Exhibit B”, a copy of which 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein, is hereby approved.

SECTION 4.

LAND USE REGULATIONS

A. The Zoning and Land Use Regulations set forth in “Exhibit C” attached hereto and made a 
part hereof for all purposes shall be adhered to in their entirety for the purposes of this PD-
Planned Development zoning district with a base zoning designation of C-2, Commercial. In 
the event of conflict between the provisions of “Exhibit C” and provisions of any other City 
zoning regulations, including without limitation the regulations governing C-2, Commercial 
zoning district, the provisions of “Exhibit C” shall control.

                                   Page 65



B. That the zoning regulations and district herein established have been adopted in accordance 
with the Comprehensive Plan for the purpose of promoting the health, safety, morals and the 
general welfare of the community. They have been designed, with respect to both present 
conditions and the conditions reasonably anticipated to exist in the foreseeable future; to 
lessen congestion in the streets; to provide adequate light and air; to prevent over-crowding 
of land; to avoid undue concentration of population; and to facilitate the adequate provision 
of transportation, water, sewerage, drainage and surface water, parks and other commercial 
needs and development of the community. They have been made after a full and complete 
hearing with reasonable consideration among other things of the character of the district and 
its peculiar suitability for the particular uses and with a view of conserving the value of 
buildings and encouraging the most appropriate use of land throughout the community

C. The Planned Development Concept Plan (Exhibit “B”) and the Land Use Regulations 
(Exhibit “C”) shall control the use and development of the Property, and all building permits 
and development requests shall be in accordance with applicable City ordinances, the PD 
Concept Plan and Land Use Regulations.  The PD Concept Plan and Land Use Regulations   
shall remain in effect as set forth herein unless amended by the City Council.

D. If a change to the Concept Plan, if any, is requested, the request shall be processed in 
accordance with the development standards in effect at the time the change is requested for 
the proposed development and shall be subject to City Council approval.

SECTION 5.

PENALTY FOR VIOLATIONS

Any person, firm, or corporation who intentionally, knowingly or recklessly violates any 
provision of this Ordinance or the Code of Ordinances, as amended hereby, shall be subject to a fine 
not to exceed the sum of five hundred dollars ($500.00) for each offense, and each and every day 
any such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense, provided, however, 
that in all cases involving violation of any provision of this Ordinance or Code of Ordinances, as 
amended hereby, governing the fire safety, zoning, or public health and sanitation shall be subject to 
a fine not to exceed the sum of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) for each offense. 

SECTION 6.

SEVERABILITY

The provisions of the Ordinance are severable. However, in the event this Ordinance or any 
procedure provided in this Ordinance becomes unlawful, or is declared or determined by a judicial, 
administrative or legislative authority exercising its jurisdiction to be excessive, unenforceable, void, 
illegal or otherwise inapplicable, in while in part, the remaining and lawful provisions shall be of 
full force and effect and the City shall promptly promulgate new revised provisions in compliance 
with the authority’s decisions or enactment.

SECTION 7.

CUMULATIVE REPEALER

This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other Ordinances and shall not repeal any of the 
provisions of such Ordinances except for those instances where there are direct conflicts with the 
provisions of this Ordinance. Ordinances, or parts thereof, in force at the time this Ordinance shall 
take effect and that are inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent that they 
are inconsistent with this Ordinance.  Provided however, that any complaint, action, claim or lawsuit 

                                   Page 66



which has been initiated or has arisen under or pursuant to such other Ordinances on this date of 
adoption of this Ordinance shall continue to be governed by the provisions of such Ordinance and 
for that purpose the Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.

SECTION 8.

SAVINGS

All rights and remedies of the City of Corinth, Texas are expressly saved as to any and all 
violations of the provisions of any other ordinance affecting zoning for the Property which have secured 
at the time of the effective date of this ordinance; and, as to such accrued violations and all pending 
litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under such ordinances same shall 
not be affected by this Ordinance but may be prosecuted until final disposition by the court.
 

SECTION 9.

EFFECTIVE DATE

This ordinance shall become effective after approval and publication as provided by law.  The City 
Secretary is directed to publish the caption and penalty of this ordinance two times.

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS 17th DAY OF OCTOBER, 2019.

APPROVED:

____________________________________
Bill Heidemann, Mayor

ATTEST:

_________________________________
Kimberly Pence, City Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

______________________________
Patricia Adams, City Attorney

                                   Page 67



EXHIBIT “A” 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A 1.13 acre tract of and known as Lot 3, Block A within the Kensington Park Addition, situated in the
H.H. Swisher Survey,   Abstract No. 1220.    Recorded in Cabinet R, Page 63 of the Plat Records of Denton, 
County, Texas.

                                   Page 68



                                   Page 69

brodriguez
Text Box

brodriguez
Text Box
 EXHIBIT "B"    CONCEPT PLAN



EXHIBIT “C”

Development Standards

• Base Zoning District
  C-2, Commercial District

• Allowed Land Uses
(a) Sales and the major or minor repair of motorcycles

(b) Shade structures within the parking areas.

(c) The outdoor display of motorcycles and items specifically related to motorcycle sales shall be 

permitted during business hours.

(d) All uses allowed within the C-2 zoning district as it currently exists or may be amended in the future.

 Restrictions
(a) No required parking spaces may be used for the outdoor display of items

(b) Parking and outdoor display shall not be permitted within the fire lane.

                                   Page 70



   
    BUSINESS ITEM    4.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 10/17/2019  
Title: Interlocal Agreement with Denton County Transportation Authority (Phase II of the

Transit Stop Study)
Submitted By: Jason Alexander, Director
Finance Review: N/A Legal Review: N/A
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Infrastructure Development

Economic Development
Citizen Engagement & Proactive Government
Regional Cooperation

AGENDA ITEM
Consider authorizing the City Manager to complete the second phase (Phase II) of a Transit Stop Study being
conducted with the Denton County Transportation Authority (DCTA) for a transit stop concept plan and a cost
estimate for the City of Corinth.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
One of the key components for achieving the community's aspirations for an energetic urban core and making
Corinth more attractive to investment is a transit stop. The Strategic Plan, the present work on the Comprehensive
Plan, the ordinance creating the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone and other visioning exercises support this
aspiration and vision of the community.

Accordinlgy, the City Council authorized the City Manager to execute an interlocal agreement with DCTA to
procure the services of Lockwood, Andrews & Newnam, Inc. (LAN), to conduct a study to determine the feasibility
of a train stop in Corinth, explore potential locations for the train stop and provide preliminary cost estimates on
June 6, 2019. LAN completed this work as Phase I of the feasibility study and presented and discussed their
findings with City Council on October 3, 2019. Their findings concluded that a transit stop is feasibile in Corinth.

With these affirmative findings --- a copy of which is attached --- Phase II of the study will need to be conducted
and completed in order to initiate conversations with DCTA for securing a transit stop in Corinth. The second phase
of the study, if the City Council authorizes the City Manager to move forward, will focus primarily on solidifying
the estimated costs for the train stop as per the deliverables in Exhibit "A" of the ILA.

RECOMMENDATION
Approve authorizing the City Manager, pursuant to the ILA with DCTA, to procure the services of LAN for Phase
II of the Transit Stop Study.

Fiscal Impact

Source of Funding: Corinth Economic Development Corporation
FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
Should the City Council authorize the City Manager to execute the second phase of the feasibility study in
collaboration with DCTA and LAN, the source of funding for the study will be provided by the Corinth Economic
Development Corporation in an amount not to exceed $75,000.00, as adopted for Fiscal Year 2019-2020.

Attachments

                                   Page 71



DCTA Corinth Station Phase 1 Final Report 

                                   Page 72



 

 

 

City of Corinth/DCTA Station Concept 
October 2019 

 

 

Study Team                                                               

     

                                   Page 73



 

i 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

1.0 Executive Summary ................................................................................................ 1 

2.0 Background and Introduction ................................................................................. 3 

3.0 Station Location Options ........................................................................................ 3 

3.1 Potential Station Areas ................................................................................................. 3 

3.2 Station Area Screening ................................................................................................. 4 

3.3 Potential Configuration Alternatives for the Selected Station Area ................................ 7 

4.0 Recommended Platform Configuration & Location ............................................... 14 

4.1 Infrastructure Modifications ....................................................................................... 14 

4.2 Operations Analysis .................................................................................................... 16 

5.0 Summary and Recommendations ......................................................................... 17 

APPENDICES .............................................................................................................. 18 

 

                                   Page 74



 

1 

 

City of Corinth/DCTA Station Concept 
DCTA On-Call A&E Railroad Services 
 

1.0 Executive Summary 
This report documents the process and results which led to a recommended new station location and 

platform configuration for the DCTA A-Train in the City of Corinth. Key process steps described include 

planning, concept design and operations.  

Initial planning included the identification and evaluation of different station area options as depicted in 

Figure 1-1. Each option was evaluated based on proximity to existing and future development, current 

Figure 1-1: Potential Corinth Station Areas 

track geometry, ease of access and impact on existing 

infrastructure. Three station areas showed the most 

promise. From north to south, the first station area 

focuses on the NCTC campus. The second station area 

is mostly surrounded by vacant land and is 1000 ft from 

the Atrium Medical Hospital. The vacant land is also the 

focus of a proposed 250-acre mixed-use development. 

The third station area is close to Corinth City Hall, the 

Atrium Hospital and a residential neighborhood. The 

proposed development was the most deciding factor 

guiding the station area decision, so the middle station 

area was recommended for further study.  

Track geometry challenges still exist in the selected station area. The presence of vertical curves and the 

availability of sufficient tangent track required a further examination of the area between Walton Rd. and 

Corinth Parkway. After review of various options, the configuration in Figure 1-2 was chosen. 

Figure 1-2: Recommended Side Platform Station Configuration 

This configuration was selected even though the 

platform is not on a complete tangent section or 

on a completely flat vertical curve, items essential 

to safe operations and satisfying Federal ADA 

requirements. That said, based on concept design, 

the platform is within acceptable tolerances for 

station design and the ADA. The location is as far 

as the platform can move towards Corinth 

Parkway to maintain acceptable tolerances. It also 

minimizes the amount of second track to be built 

compared to other options examined.  

                                   Page 75



 

2 

 

The study team recognized the importance of station placement and integration with the proposed 250- 

acre mixed use transit-oriented development. Figure 1-3 illustrates in concept that integration.  

Figure 1-3: Station Integration with Development Concept 

Key to the station integration is 

alignment with a proposed 

pedestrian sidewalk bordering the 

north side of the special event 

space. Ideally it would line up 

with a similar but wider 

pedestrian crossing of the station 

and track alignment shown in 

green and yellow. The pedestrian 

sidewalk and the station crossing 

are interrupted by an access 

roadway for buses and cars to 

reach the station platform. Design 

elements of the station and the 

development are still in the early stages with improvements still possible as design advances, however 

this is a workable location.   

 

Another important part of the station evaluation is the impact a new station has on existing train 

operations. A network simulation was conducted to evaluate whether operating plans developed for 

positive train control travel times remain viable with the addition of Corinth Station without adjusting 

signals, infrastructure or the operating plan. A test was run with the new Corinth station as configured.  

The current 30-minute headway operating plan remains feasible with the new station.  The additional 

station adds approximately 1.5 minutes of travel time to northbound trips. No travel time is added 

southbound trips. 

Additional network simulation analysis is still required given further sections of double track needed to 

maintain and improve operating efficiencies in the long term. This analysis will be conducted during the 

second phase of this study once authorized. The second phase will also include detailing of capital and 

operating costs given the new station. The primary conclusion of this first phase remains that a viable 

location integrated with the proposed development as shown is quite viable.   

 

 
 

                                   Page 76



 

3 

 

2.0 Background and Introduction 
DCTA, in cooperation with the City of Corinth, is considering adding a station between Corinth Parkway 

and Walton Road. This action is in response to interest by the City to have DCTA commuter rail service 

and a major mixed-use development with good transit-oriented development potential proposed 

adjacent to the DCTA rail right of way. This report describes an examination of various station area 

locations and platform types. After some screening, a recommended location and platform configuration 

is described in more detail supported by input from City and DCTA staff. Infrastructure modifications 

needed to support the recommended station/platform location are discussed and DCTA operations 

impacts are summarized given the addition of the new station.  

Once authorized a second phase study will be conducted to estimate the cost of adding the new station. 

Costs will include capital expenditures for the station platform, new trackwork, design, construction 

management and operating costs. Further travel time simulations are needed to verify operating 

efficiency with a new station in the long term. 

3.0 Station Location Options 
Various station location options were identified for a potential new station in the City of Corinth. Each 

option has strengths and weaknesses especially considering a proposed major mixed-use development 

that has recently been proposed. For a given location, platform placement along the current DCTA A-

Train alignment is key to minimize additional infrastructure cost. Platform configuration (center vs. side 

platform) also plays a role in the location decision. All of these location elements are discussed further in 

the following sections.  

3.1 Potential Station Areas 
At the outset, it was possible to establish a focused geographic area for a station location investigation. 

The focus area is illustrated in Figure 3-1 and spans an approximate 2,000 ft. long distance along the DCTA 

alignment from just north of Walton Rd. to just south of Corinth Parkway. Three station areas were 

included accompanied by 1000 ft. radius circles showing what uses are captured within close proximity.  

The first station area is centered north of the T intersection at Corinth St. and Walton Rd. It’s location 

advantage is the adjacency to the North Central Texas College (NCTC) campus with its circular parking. 

The second station area is centered generally halfway between Walton Rd. and Corinth Parkway. This 

area is mostly surrounded by vacant land; however, these vacant parcels encompass a proposed 250-acre 

mixed-use development. The Atrium Medical Hospital is 1,000 ft from the station area center, as is the 

NCTC campus and Corinth City Hall. The third station area is centered south of Corinth Parkway and is 

closer in distance to Corinth City Hall, the Atrium Medical Hospital and a small residential neighborhood 

due east of City Hall than the previous station area.  

                                   Page 77



 

4 

Figure 3-1 Potential Corinth Station Areas 

3.2 Station Area Screening 
The study objective is to narrow the alternative station areas to one preferred area and then identify the 

best platform location and configuration for that area. This section summarizes the rationale for and 

results of screening the station areas. The rationale includes alignment and infrastructure considerations 

and interface with the planned mixed-use development.  

3.2.1 Station Area Short List 
Based on the three areas previously described, two stand out as having the most merit. The two are 

shown in Figure 3-2. Station area three is eliminated because although the station platform is near 

Corinth City Hall and a small nearby residential neighborhood, direct access to those destinations is very 

limited and a major storage facility immediately south and west of the station area platform is not 

conducive to existing or future A-Train ridership or development that could improve ridership.  

The two station areas shown on Figure 3-2 allow more access to current development and future 

developable land. There is an alignment issue that impacts final platform placement. The current 

alignment consists of one track. Two tracks are essential for the station platform, so passengers can 

efficiently access the train either from a center platform or two side platforms for northbound and 

southbound travel. Two tracks also allow for better on-time performance. The standard station platform 

length is 450 ft.  Because of the degree of vertical curve present along the alignment in this area, the 

existing track would need to be modified and a second parallel track added for a center or side platform 

to be inserted. An approximate linear distance of 1,750 ft. on both sides of the platform center is needed 

(subject to further design) to add the platform, new track, re-construct the existing track and transition 

                                   Page 78



 

5 

the new track north and south to merge again with the existing single track. There is sufficient 

unencumbered space within the DCTA right-of-way north of Walton Rd. to provide such a transition for 

the second track. This is not the case for the station area between Walton Rd. and Corinth Parkway. The 

track transition can still be accomplished but it will require rebuilding both railroad crossings at some 

expense. A single-track operation with one side platform might still work in this second station area to 

avoid that cost but it may not be the optimal solution in the long term. Other possible solutions for 

providing sufficient transition space along the alignment follows given opportunities presented by the 

proposed mixed-use development and a closer examination of the vertical and horizontal alignment 

characteristics in this area.   

Figure 3-2 Station Area Short List    

3.2.2 Mixed-Use Development  
A 250-acre mixed-use development with a transit-oriented development focus is proposed with a 

geographic nexus between City Hall to the south, the NCTC campus to the north, IH-35 frontage to the 

west and Shady Rest Lane to the east. Development concepts include a large open area event space, 2-3 

story retail space, commercial space and new residential development. Integrated into the development 

plan is a core 45 acres of the development which also includes an open area event space just north of 

Corinth Parkway including shared parking with surrounding retail space to the west of the station 

platform. Development implementation is estimated to start within 3 years and the City may implement a 

tax increment reinvestment zone for the project as a mechanism to make public sector infrastructure 

improvements. A concept vision for the planned development is shown as Figure 3-3.  

 

                                   Page 79



 

6 

Figure 3-3 Corinth Village Mixed-Use Development Concept

 

3.2.3 Recommended Station Area 
A meeting was held was held August 6, 2019 to discuss the new Corinth station. Representatives from the 

City of Corinth, DCTA, the Developer and LAN discussed the station area options and ways for the station 

to be integrated into the proposed development. There was a preference by DCTA for a center platform 

station configuration and a preference by the City for the station to be between Corinth Parkway and 

Walton Rd. In addition, there was a desire expressed to place the platform as close to Corinth Parkway as 

possible with the belief that such a location will integrate with the development the best. Given the 

limited distance between Corinth Parkway and Walton Rd. which only allowed the necessary second track 

alignment transition to be implemented with the addition of new rail crossing construction, the City 

agreed to reconfigure the Corinth St. and Walton Rd. intersection, so no crossing would occur at that 

location. Because the proposed development still requires additional access to/from the IH-35 frontage 

rd., a new crossing will be added further north so the second track transition required distance can be 

accomplished before the new crossing location, thus requiring a single track at the new crossing until 

DCTA desires to double track the entire A-Train alignment. All agreed that if after engineering review of 

the revised crossing for the second track transition was still needed at Corinth Parkway south of the 

platform, that revision would be acceptable. With that understanding, it was agreed to proceed with 

establishing the center platform station location in station area 2 just north of Corinth Parkway. The 

recommended station area with highlighted roadway infrastructure changes is shown as Figure 3-4. 

 Next, the various platform configuration requirements and their impact on location within the 

recommended station area are presented.   

 

                                   Page 80



 

7 

 

 Figure 3-4: Recommended Station Area 

 

 

3.3 Potential Configuration Alternatives for the Selected Station Area 

The recommended positioning of the station platform is directly impacted by engineering parameters 

and good land development access. From an engineering point of view, platform positioning is 

dependent on 1) the availability of existing tangent track in the station area and 2) the ability to place 

a new platform along a non-tangent track section but do it so that design parameters are still within 

tolerable limits. The reason station platforms are on tangent and level sections of track is, so the train 

is always parallel to the platform edge for ease of passenger access and ADA requirements and the 

operator has excellent visibility of the entire platform as the train enters and leaves the station. From 

a land development perspective, the platform should be located to facilitate easy access to as much 

retail, event and residential space as possible. At the same time there are some concerns with the 

type of platform to be used and its location as represented on the master plan. Any center platform 

must be 23” above the track to allow passengers level entry and egress of the train. It cannot be 

lowered in part to allow for pedestrian crossing through the center of the platform. The platform can 

only be accessible via the ramps at either end of the station.  

Various platform types were evaluated for station design, location and concept preserving the integration 

with the future development. The station for the City of Corinth will need to meet safety requirements 

                                   Page 81



 

8 

and commuter rail guidelines at the same time provide accessibility to and integration with the 

surrounding master plan.  

For all platform types, the vehicle being utilized for platform size, orientation and configuration 

evaluations is the Stadler GTW DMU-2 2/6 for DCTA. The proposed site location for the platform is north 

of Corinth Parkway and south of Walton Dr. The proposed platform should follow the orientation of the 

existing track alignment. The platform should be a length of 350’-0” to allow berthing of a two (2) vehicle 

concept. Exit ramps should be provided at each end at the minimum length of 40’-0” with adequate width 

per NFPA 130. Track crossings are to be provided at end of ramp at a minimum width of 10’-0”. The 

overall platform length will be 450’-0”. 

The platform types are illustrated below with information dealing with alignment and platform access 

issues. 

3.3.1 Standard Center Platform & Location 

A center platform concept allows for berthing of vehicles on both sides of a single platform between 

two tracks. The platform would have a width of 23’-8”. This platform will cause the new rail alignment 

to get wider to accommodate the platform. Both sides of the platform will require a pedestrian 

barriers for safety purposes. This can be in the form of concrete planter with landscape barrier or 

fencing. This will be needed to protect riders as the train enters and exits the station. Figure 3-5 

illustrates the platform placement along the alignment to maintain a consistent platform width. 

Figure 3-6 illustrates the cross-section of the platform with pedestrian crossings at both ends and no 

middle crossing of the platform due to the elevation required of the platform relative to the tracks.  

At this location although the platform is on a tangent section, the existing track is also on a vertical 

curve and that curve will need to be eliminated. The elimination requires an approximate re-

construction of 1300 ft. of the existing track at this location. The elimination of the vertical curve will 

allow the platform to meet ADA requirements for access and boarding purposes. Figure 3-5 shows 

new track on the west side of the platform. Approximately 3500 ft of new track is required (1750 ft 

north and 1750 south of the center of the platform) to transition to the original single-track alignment 

to accommodate the station. Although the City intends to move the Walton Rd./Corinth St. 

intersection to eliminate the crossing shown in Figure 3-5, it remains for reference purposes only. 

Station Length Platform Width Canopy Direct Drop-off 

450’-0” 23’-8” Yes No 

                                   Page 82



 

9 

Figure 3-5: Corinth Station Platform Concept 1-A Conventional Center Platform  

 

Figure 3-6: Corinth Station Concept 1-A Conventional Center Platform Access Details 

 

 

3.3.2 Curved Center Platform & Location 

A center curved platform concept like the concept described above that can be closer to a horizontal 

track curve can be provided closer to Corinth Parkway. The curved portion of the station refers only 

                                   Page 83



 

10 

to the section of the platform that can be modified and placed inside the horizontal track curve. This 

is only recommended for the part of the station that does not provide boarding space, in this case the 

crossing and accessible ramps.  

The platform egress will be narrower at the south end following the horizontal curve track profile. 

This platform will cause the new rail alignment to get wider on one end and narrower on the other to 

accommodate the platform. There are concerns that the horizontal alignment for the new track will 

exceed maximum clearance allowed by code between the platform and car floor from an ADA 

perspective. A more detailed track evaluation and reconfiguration will be required to evaluate the 

final location of station.  Only minimal changes are required for the existing track to reduce a short 

section of vertical curve. Approximately 3400 ft. of new track alignment on the west side of the 

platform will be required (1700 ft. north and 1700 ft. south from the platform center) to transition to 

single track on the existing alignment beyond the station.  

Figure 3-7 illustrates the platform placement along the alignment closer to Corinth Parkway but with 

a narrowing platform making the platform shift possible. Figure 3-8 illustrates the cross-section of the 

narrowing platform with pedestrian crossings at both ends and no middle crossing of the platform as 

before. 

Station Length Nominal Platform 
Width (varies) 

Canopy Direct Drop-off 

450’-0” 23’-8”  Yes No 

 

Figure 3-7: Corinth Station Concept 1-B Curved Center Platform 

 

 

                                   Page 84



 

11 

Figure 3-8: Corinth Station Concept 1-B Curved Center Platform Access Details 

 

3.3.3 Side Platform & Location 

A side platform concept allows for berthing of vehicles at each platform with two tracks in between 

the platforms. Each platform width will be 17’-10” wide. The east platform will cause the station to 

move farther south within the existing site. The platform can begin at the minimum distance of a 

150’-0” from the tangent point of the existing curve, without affecting the platform width.   

The side platform can be better integrated into the City of Corinth master plan. Instead of landscape 

barriers or rail barriers being required to separate riders from the tracks. Pedestrian plazas on both 

sides of the platform can be used to transition riders to the platform. This would create a sense of 

openness and allow easier access to the platform. The City of Corinth station would be integrated as 

part of the design rather than being its own portion.  

With a Side Platform Station, it is possible to better accomplish the original intent shown in The City 

of Corinth’s master plan to integrate the station with the development, plus provide connectivity and 

accessibility to the development. The side platform concept also allows for a platform construction 

phasing plan in concert with the development of the site, if desired. A second track will be needed 

before any construction of either platform commences so existing train operations are not affected 

during platform construction.  The side platform concept will satisfy ADA requirements even with the 

platform access ramps on a slight horizontal curve at this location. A very short vertical curve 

adjustment is needed for the existing track on the east side as for the curved center platform concept 

at this location. Because of narrower track centers, approximately 3000 ft of new track on the west is 

needed to transition to the original single-track alignment. 

                                   Page 85



 

12 

Figure 3-9 illustrates the platform placement along the alignment closer to Corinth Parkway and still on a 

curve. Figure 3-10 illustrates the cross-section of the side platform with pedestrian crossings at both ends 

and no middle crossing of the platform as before. 

 

Station Length Platform Width  Canopy Direct Drop-off 

450’-0” 17’-10” Yes Yes * 

*Platform can be integrated into pedestrian plazas at each side, all development will need to 
coordinate final elevations from top of tracks 

                                   Page 86



 

13 

 

Figure 3-9: Corinth Station Concept 1-C Side Platforms  

 

Figure 3-10: Corinth Station Concept 1-C Side Platforms Access Details 

 

                                   Page 87



 

14 

 

4.0 Recommended Platform Configuration & Location 
Based on input from the City and DCTA during a meeting September 3, 2019, plus concept engineering 

considerations, implementation flexibility and better integration with the future development concept, a 

side platform configuration as shown in Figure’s 3-9 and 3-10 is recommended.   This side platform 

configuration is further illustrated in Figure 4-1 integrated with the proposed development.  

Figure 4-1: Recommended Station Configuration Integration with Development Concept 

 

 

4.1 Infrastructure Modifications 
A few additional civil related infrastructure improvements and changes will be needed to support the 

Corinth station location as recommended. These improvements and changes are discussed below and 

summarized in Figure 4-2, except for the new roadway and bus bays serving the station which is shown in 

Figure 4-1.  

 

 

 

 

                                   Page 88



 

15 

 

 

 

Figure 4-2: Proposed Civil Infrastructure Modifications 

 

4.1.1 Track Changes 
As mentioned previously the side platform concept will satisfy ADA requirements even with the platform 

access ramps on a slight horizontal curve at this location. A very short vertical curve adjustment 

(approximately 100 ft.) is needed for the existing track on the east side. Because of narrower track 

centers, approximately 3000 ft of new track on the west is needed to transition to the original single-track 

alignment. This is a reduction compared to the center platform concepts.  

4.1.2 Roadway Changes 
Three roadway changes are needed. The first is the removal and relocation of the existing intersection at 

Walton Rd. and Corinth St. just north of the station area. A new crossing will be constructed as part of the 

master development plan further north at the point where the double track section needed for the 

station transitions back to single track, approximately 1600 ft. from the center of the new platform. The 

second roadway is the addition of an access roadway on the western edge of the development just east 

of the existing track. This roadway is needed to facilitate local access to the station and allow bus bays for 

passenger pick-up and drop-off as shown in Figure 4-1. The addition of this roadway requires the current 

hike and bike trail on the east side of the existing rail alignment to be relocated on the east side of the 

                                   Page 89



 

16 

new road. A third roadway change is the reconstruction of the railroad crossing at Corinth Parkway for 

the second track required for the new station.  

4.1.3 Parking 
The Corinth Station will have parking which will be located west of the station. The parking is to be shared 

with new development as it comes on line. The parking estimate for the station is 350 spaces.  

4.1.4 Pedestrian Connections 
Once at the station, pedestrians will enter, exit and cross between platforms at each end of the station. A 

pedestrian plaza is shown in Figure 4-1 to funnel access to each side of the station from the development 

interior. The final length and width of the pedestrian plaza will be determined in later design phases of 

the project. 

4.1.5 Utilities 
Major utilities were identified through existing plans and files available from the City and DCTA. On the 

east side of the station, an existing drainage area will need to be placed in a box culvert under the station 

platform. On the west side of the station an existing sanitary sewer line is under the West platform. This 

line will need to be relocated so access to the line is not impeded for maintenance purposes.  As design 

progresses, other changes in existing utilities or requirements for new utilities because of the 

development may need to be evaluated.  

4.2 Operations Analysis 
New run time simulations to test the impact on A-Train operations were performed given a proposed new 
station in Corinth. Two simulations were originally to be conducted, the first with the added station and 
sufficient double track in the immediate vicinity of the new station, and the second with the added 
station and even more double track north of Lewisville Lake to improve operational efficiency. The second 
analysis will take more time and will be included during the second phase of the analysis.  
 
The purpose of the network simulation is to evaluate whether operating plans developed for positive train 
control travel times remain viable with the addition of Corinth Station. In each case two operating plan 
concepts were tested: 25-minute headways and 30-minute headways.  

4.2.1 Adding the Corinth Station 
The first run time simulation reflects the presence of an additional station just north of Corinth Parkway 

and approximately 3000 ft. of new double track alignment to accommodate a new center or double side 

platform configuration. The 25-minute headway operating plan scenario is not feasible with the Corinth 

station because cascading delays in the system occur causing instability in the run times. The 30-minute 

headway operating plan scenario is feasible with the new station. The additional station adds 

approximately 1.5 minutes of travel time to northbound trips. No travel time is added for southbound 

trips. Both the northbound and southbound trip partly make up the additional stop time for the Corinth 

station by reducing the time spent delayed on sidings. The southbound trip spends less time delayed at 

Hebron, while the northbound trip spends less time delayed at Med Park siding. However, with the 

southbound trip making the Corinth stop, the northbound trip is also delayed for longer at Lewisville Lake, 

waiting for the southbound trip to arrive. This accounts for added time northbound and no additional 

time for southbound  

                                   Page 90



 

17 

5.0 Summary and Recommendations 
This analysis of a new DCTA station in the City of Corinth is a direct result of interest to add a station 

because of a proposed major new 250-acre development plan directly adjacent to DCTA right-of-way 

between Corinth Parkway and Walton Rd. Initially three broad station areas were investigated, one south 

of Corinth Parkway, one north of Walton Rd. near the NCTC campus and one between Corinth Parkway 

and Walton rd. Based on the availability of tangent track plus proximity to the proposed development, 

the station area between Corinth Parkway and Walton Rd. was selected. From there the challenge was to 

optimize the platform location and platform type to minimize existing and new track construction, given 

the presence of horizontal and vertical curves, minimize new crossing construction, satisfy ADA 

requirements at the platform and facilitate development access to/from the platform. The analysis of 

platform configurations resulted in the recommended side platform location shown in Figure 3-9 and 

shown integrated with the planned development in Figure 4-1. 

Often the addition of a new station, particularly on single-track railroad-based systems, can cause 

operational problems depending on where passing sidings already exist because the new station will alter 

train travel times causing ‘train meet’ locations to change. This can cause instability in run time 

performance. Fortunately, through an existing run time simulation model, impacts on run time 

performance and schedule stability can be tested. The run time analysis revealed that for the current A-

Train 30-minute headways a stable operating plan can be maintained with the addition of the Corinth 

station.  

Answers to a broader question concerning the amount of double track needed to operate the A-Train 

most efficiently given a new Corinth station remain to be addressed. A series of simulations to determine 

the appropriate amount of additional double track needed will be completed and reported as part of the 

next phase of this study.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                   Page 91



 

18 

 

 

APPENDICES 
A - Proposed Mixed-Use Development 

B - Operational Simulation Results  

      B-1 Adding Corinth Station  

       

 

 

                                   Page 92



VILLAGE SQUARE AT CORINTH

Master Planning

View of Corinth Village

                                   Page 93

tkryden
Text Box
           Appendix A  Mixed Use Development



VILLAGE SQUARE AT CORINTH

Master Planning

1.  NCTC Expansion Area
• Expands southward along 

central green with 

architectural student services 

building in the center

• Campus expansion makes 

direct connection into the 

mixed-use Village Square

• Potential joint venture office 

(light purple)face the I-35

• Flex office and small retail 

along I-35 frontage and N. 

Corinth Street

2.  Village Square Area
• Drainage property reclaimed 

to become central square 

with performance pavilion 

and restaurant pavilion 

• Village square defined by 

mixed-use buildings on north 

and east side designed to 

transition from residential to 

commercial space on 

ground floor as market grows

• New rail station north of 

Corinth Parkway feeds the 

Village Square, with shared 

parking to its west

• Restaurant grouping with 

outdoor patios defines rail 

station to direct west, and 

allows for food truck parking

3.  Village Community Area
• Blend of single family, 

townhomes and loft 

apartments

• Defined by street grid and 

pocket park system with wide 

sidewalks, street trees, 

benches, bike racks, trash 

containers and pleasant 

planting

• All garages and project 

parking within internal 

parking courts and alleys

4.  Health Science Area
• New roadway provides 

access from Corinth Parkway 

to Walton Street

• Parking and open area west 

of new roadway converted 

into new development site

• Shared parking garage as 

public/private partnership 

between developer and City 

provides H/S parking at base

• New parking on Corinth Pkwy

5. Mixed-Use I-35 Frontage
• Hotel, office and restaurant 

area on both sides of I-35, 

having strong highway 

presence and connected by 

pedestrian promenade to rail 

platform and Village Square

                                   Page 94

tkryden
Text Box



VILLAGE SQUARE AT CORINTH

Master Planning

NCTC Expansion along a College Green

Mixed-Use Buildings around the Green

Performance Pavilion activating the Green

Apartments, townhomes and home offices

Hotel and Low-Rise Office along I-35 with walk

Main Street from City Hall to NCTC with pkg

                                   Page 95

tkryden
Text Box



VILLAGE SQUARE AT CORINTH

Master Planning

View of Corinth Main Street

                                   Page 96

tkryden
Text Box



VILLAGE SQUARE AT CORINTH

Master Planning

Single family detached Single family attached

Multi family Retail / Restaurants

Commercial / Office Commercial / Hotel

Light Industrial / Flex Office Mixed-Use

                                   Page 97

tkryden
Text Box



1LTK ENGINEERING SERVICES         Excellence in Rail Systems and Vehicle Engineering

DCTA A-train Corinth Station 
Operations Analysis

Appendix B-1 Added Corinth Station                                    Page 98



2LTK ENGINEERING SERVICES         Excellence in Rail Systems and Vehicle Engineering

Description

▪ New infill station proposed in Corinth on single-track section between 
Lewisville Lake Station and Med Park Station

▪ Stopping at Corinth Station will increase travel time on the single track, 
affecting timing of meets on passing sidings

▪ Network simulation performed to evaluate whether operating plans 
developed for PTC travel times remain viable with the addition of 
Corinth Station without adjusting signals or infrastructure

▪ Two PTC operating plan concepts tested: 

• 25-minute headways

• 30-minute headways 

                                   Page 99



3LTK ENGINEERING SERVICES         Excellence in Rail Systems and Vehicle Engineering

25m Operating Plan, 5:30AM-11:30AM

Cascading 

Delays

                                   Page 100



4LTK ENGINEERING SERVICES         Excellence in Rail Systems and Vehicle Engineering

25m Headway Conclusions

▪ 25-minute headway plan is not feasible with Corinth Station, due to 
cascading delays

▪ Minimum stable headway to support Corinth Station stop and 7-minute 
terminal turns is 26 minutes

                                   Page 101



5LTK ENGINEERING SERVICES         Excellence in Rail Systems and Vehicle Engineering

30m Operating Plan, 5:30AM-11:30AM

                                   Page 102



6LTK ENGINEERING SERVICES         Excellence in Rail Systems and Vehicle Engineering

30m Operating Plan, 11:30AM-5:30PM

                                   Page 103



7LTK ENGINEERING SERVICES         Excellence in Rail Systems and Vehicle Engineering

30m Operating Plan, 5:30PM-11:30PM

                                   Page 104



8LTK ENGINEERING SERVICES         Excellence in Rail Systems and Vehicle Engineering

Northbound Southbound

Existing Infrastructure 0:39:02 0:38:23

Add Corinth Station Stop 0:39:57 0:39:19

Difference 0:00:55 0:00:56

Average Travel Times,
Delay-Free (TPC)

                                   Page 105



9LTK ENGINEERING SERVICES         Excellence in Rail Systems and Vehicle Engineering

Average Travel Times, 
Network Simulation (Regular Service, 30m Headways)

Northbound Southbound

Existing Infrastructure 0:42:21 0:42:32

Add Corinth Station Stop 0:43:39 0:42:32

Difference 0:01:18 0:00:00

• Additional travel time between Med Park Siding and Lewisville Lake Siding due 

to adding a stop at Corinth Station has no effect on total southbound travel time 

                                   Page 106



10LTK ENGINEERING SERVICES         Excellence in Rail Systems and Vehicle Engineering

Constraining Travel Time

• Travel time on single track between Hebron and Lewisville Lake causes delays on existing infrastructure 

• All the additional southbound travel time due to the Corinth stop replaces delay at Hebron

• Some additional northbound travel time replaces delay at Med Park Station

                                   Page 107


	Agenda
	AI 1665 Climate Ready Communities 
	       ATT_Climate Hazard Assessment
	AI 1663 Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone and Transit Oriented Development District
	AI 1666 Water Meter Reading Software
	AI 1657 August 22, 2019 Workshop Session
	       ATT_Minutes
	AI 1658 August 22, 2019 Regular Session
	       ATT_Minutes
	AI 1664 Twisted Cycles Planned Development
	       ATT_Twisted Cycles PD Ordinance
	Twisted Cycles PD Ordinance Final_0
	SECTION 1.
	INCORPORATION OF PREMISES
	SECTION 2
	LEGAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION; AMENDMENT
	SECTION 3.
	PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT PLAN
	SECTION 4.
	LAND USE REGULATIONS
	SECTION 5.
	PENALTY FOR VIOLATIONS
	SECTION 6.
	SEVERABILITY
	SECTION 8.
	SAVINGS

	Twisted Cycles Concept Plan EXHIBIT B
	Twisted Cycles Development Standards EXHIBIT C_0
	EXHIBIT “C”
	Development Standards


	AI 1655 Interlocal Agreement with Denton County Transportation Authority (Phase II of the Transit Stop Study)
	       ATT_DCTA Corinth Station Phase 1 Final Report
	City of Corinth Station Report Cover - Final
	City of Corinth DCTA Station Concept Report Final 100919
	Appendix A Mixed Use Development - Final
	C5166.09 DCTA Corinth Station 20190823 - first analysis Appendix B-1-Final


